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Scope and Boundary
the Spanjaard Group of Companies is proud to present its integrated report to stakeholders for the 2013 financial year.

Scope

the King iii Code on Governance defines an integrated report as ”a holistic and integrated representation of the 
company’s performance in terms of both its finance and its sustainability”.

management has considered the guidelines as set out by the international integrated reporting Committee in 
preparing the Group’s 2013 integrated report.

the integrated report covers both financial and non-financial activities of the Group’s strategy, performance and 
governance for the period 1 march 2012 to 28 February 2013.

Assurance

the Group’s external auditors, mazars, have provided external audit assurance on the annual financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies act of 2008 which were prepared by the Financial director, Hj 
van Heerden - B.Comm (acc) (also refer to the report of the independent auditors on page 18).

the Group’s Bee scorecard was also verified by the Bee Verification agency CC, a SanaS accredited Bee verification 
agency. 

no external assurance was given on the integrated report (refer to the Corporate Governance review on page 3).
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a History of Excellence

Since its establishment in johannesburg, South africa, 
in 1960, the Spanjaard Group of Companies has grown 
into a globally respected manufacturer and distributor 
of specialised lubricants and allied chemical products 
for the industrial, automotive, mining, marine and 
household markets.

through our own research and development facility we 
are able to keep our product formulations at the leading 
edge of the latest technology to bring you products 
ideally suited to your specialised requirements and 
applications. 

With the assistance of our dedicated team of chemists 
and technicians, many companies have found solutions 
for their most difficult lubrication problems.

Our distributor network spans five continents and 31 
countries globally, and stands ready to help you at a 
moment’s notice no matter where in the world you 
operate.

Spanjaard Limited is an accredited iSO 9001 listed 
manufacturer and maintains its brand promise: “proven 
technology for your satisfaction.”

Industrial: Process and production lubrication, maintenance.

Consumer / Automotive: Motor trade, spares and accessory outlets, D.I.Y. (Do It Yourself) stores, garages, repair workshops, hardware stores.

Marine: Covering the entire spectrum from navy / merchant navy to leisure craft.

Electrical and electronics

Board of Directors, Spanjaard Limited
Back row left to right: Mrs S. Hari, S.A. Pretorius, H.J. van Heerden, R.J.W. Spanjaard, G.F. Cort , Ms E. Nepgen
Front row left to right: C.K.T. Palmer, Prof D.P. van der Nest, B.L. Montgomery
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Corporate Governance 
for the year ended 28 February 2013

Under the stewardship of the Board, an open governance 
process is managed through which stakeholders may 
derive assurance that the Company is being managed 
in an ethical and disciplined manner according to risk 
parameters based on the principles of transparency, 
accountability, responsibility and fairness.

We have applied all the requirements of King iii during 
the full financial year except for those principles listed 
and explained on pages 7-8. a full analysis of the King 
iii application can be viewed on our website under the 
“Financials” heading at www.spanjaard.biz.

Board of Directors
the Board of directors is based on a unitary structure 
and comprises six executive directors and three non-
executive directors, all of whom are independent. any 
new directors are appointed by the Board of directors as 
a whole in a formal and transparent manner. the Board 
of directors meets regularly in order to set overall Group 
policies and takes decisions on matters of strategic 

importance to the Group. the executive directors, 
including the Chairman, are involved in the day-to-day 
management of the business.  

the Group has a formal procedure for the appointment 
of a director and to ensure a clear balance of power and 
authority at board level, to ensure that no one director 
has unfettered powers of decision making.

there were no changes to the Board of directors during 
the 2013 financial year.

all directors have access to the advice and service of the 
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that 
Board procedures are followed.

all directors are entitled to seek independent 
professional advice about the affairs of the Group at the 
Group’s expense.

Sub-committees have been appointed by the board 
to assist in discharging its duties, details of which are 
provided below.

during the year directors attended Board meetings as follows:

 directors

26 march 
2012 

attended

8 may  
2012 

attended

12 October 
2012 

attended

22 February 
2013 

attended
total 

meetings
total 

attended
% meetings  

attended

r.j.W. Spanjaard  
(Executive Chairman) Yes Yes Yes Yes  4  4  100 

ms e. nepgen  
(Executive Managing) Yes Yes Yes Yes  4  4  100 

G.F. Cort  
(Executive) Yes Yes Yes Yes  4  4  100 

mrs S. Hari  
(Independent Non-executive) no Yes Yes no 4 2  50 

B. L. montgomery  
(Non-executive) no no Yes Yes  4  2  50 

C.K.t. palmer 
(Executive) no Yes Yes Yes  4  3  75 

S.a. pretorius 
(Executive) no no Yes Yes  4  2  50 

prof d.p. van der nest  
(Lead Independent Non-executive) no Yes Yes Yes  4  3  75 

H.j. van Heerden  
(Executive Financial) Yes Yes Yes Yes  4  4  100 
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Corporate Governance 
continued

re-election of Board members is on a rotational basis 
to ensure Board continuity. the curricula vitae of the 
directors to be re-elected are set out below:

r.j.W. Spanjaard - Founder of the Spanjaard Group of 
Companies in 1960. mr Spanjaard is a Fellow of the 
institute of directors of South africa.

G.F. Cort - joined the Spanjaard Limited sales team in 
1996. Currently his portfolio includes supervision of 
international sales and logistics related thereto.

B.L. montgomery - appointed to the Board of directors in 
2005 and was also connected with our jSe listing in 1987.

C.K.t. palmer - Has an m.Sc and mBa from the University 
of OFS and is currently in charge of all technical matters 
including research and product development.

refer to page 21 for detailed CV’s.

Audit Committee
the Committee consists of three non-executive 
directors, two of whom are independent:

 � prof d.p. van der nest (Chairman)
 � B.L. montgomery
 � mrs S. Hari

the external auditors of the Group, mazars, have 
unrestricted access to this Committee.

members of the Group’s financial management attend all 
meetings by invitation.

the Committee meetings focus on financial reporting 
requirements, both internal and external, and reviews 
fees charged by the external auditors, the appointment 
of the external auditors, risk analysis and compliance 
with corporate governance.

the committee is governed by a written charter and the 
audit committee members have considered and are of 
the opinion that they are adequately independent from 
the Company and Group, and management thereof, 
within the spirit of the Code of Corporate practices and 
Conduct.

a minimum of three meetings are held annually. during 
the period under review, r.j.W. Spanjaard (Chairman 
of the Board of directors), ms e. nepgen (managing 
director), representatives of mazars and H.j. van Heerden 
(Financial director) were present by invitation. the 
Committee proposed all decisions of the meeting to the 
Board of directors, the Board of directors then authorise 
any decisions made.

directors 

15 march 
2012 

attended

8 may  
2012 

attended

12 October 
2012 

attended

8 February 
2013 

attended
total 

meetings
total  

attended
%  meetings  

attended

prof d.p. van der nest 
(Chairman) Yes Yes Yes Yes  4  4  100 

B.L. montgomery 
(Member) no no Yes no  4  1  25 

mrs S. Hari 
(Member) Yes Yes Yes Yes  4  4  100 
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The Remuneration Committee
the Committee presently comprises:

 � B.L. montgomery - (Chairman) - non-executive 
director

 � r.j.W. Spanjaard - Chairman of the Board of directors

the remuneration Committee is responsible 
for ensuring that executive directors and senior 
management are appropriately remunerated and 
incentivised for their contribution to the Group’s 
financial and operating performance. the Committee 
meets twice per annum or as required and meetings 
were attended by B.L. montgomery and r.j.W. Spanjaard. 
e. nepgen attended the one meeting held during 
the year by invitation. management incentives are 
purely based on the performance of the Group and are 
evaluated on an annual basis by the Committee.

The Social and Ethics Committee
the Committee presently comprises:

 � mrs S. Hari (Chairperson) - independent non-executive 
director

 � ms e. nepgen
 � mr S.a. pretorius

the Social and ethics Committee has a responsibility to 
monitor the Company’s activities which includes social 
and economic development, good corporate citizenship, 
the environment, quality of its products and services 
to ensure that it meets the necessary health and public 
safety standards, consumer relationships, labour and 
employment. the Committee also has a duty to draw 
matters within its mandate to the attention of the Board 
as occasion requires and to report through one of its 
members to shareholders at the Company’s annual 
general meeting on matters within its mandate. the 
Committee meets twice per annum.

Corporate Governance 
continued

directors
12 October 2012 

attended
8 February 2013 

attended total meetings total attended
% meetings 

attended

mrs S. Hari 
(Chairperson) Yes Yes  2  2  100 

ms e. nepgen 
(Member) Yes Yes  2  2  100 

mr S.a. pretorius  
(Member) Yes Yes  2  2  100 
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Corporate Governance 
continued

Top three earners who are not Directors
as required by King iii, the Group is disclosing the 
aggregate remuneration of the three most highly paid 
employees who are not directors of the Company.

  Salary Commission total
r’000 r’000 r’000

total earnings 1,582  - 1,582 

the Group believes it is problematic to disclose the 
remuneration for senior management by individual in a 
market where skilled executives are scarce, the aggregate 
has therefore been included. 

Company Secretary
ms Sonia Venter was appointed as company secretary on 
26 march 2012. She holds a B.Com accounting degree and 
has completed her articles in 2009.

She has, since her appointment, attended various 
seminars on the duties of holding the company secretary 
position.

the Board of directors are satisfied that ms Venter has 
all the necessary qualifications, and although she is 
employed by the company, the Board believes, after 
review, that she maintains an arm’s length relationship 
with its members due to the fact that she has no 
extraordinary interests in the company.

Internal Control
the directors acknowledge their responsibility for the 
Group’s system of internal financial controls which have 
been established in order to provide reasonable assurance 
of the safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use 
or disposal and the maintenance of proper and reliable 
accounting records and financial information. these 
controls have been effective in the current financial year 
and remain effective on 9 may 2013.

the responsibility for the operation of these systems 
of internal controls lies with the executive directors 

who review them regularly to be satisfied that they 
are appropriate to provide reasonable assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. Because of this 
compensating control and the small size of the Group, it 
is the view of the Board that no internal audit function is 
required.

the control systems include established policies and 
procedures, limits of authority, delegation and detailed 
reporting mechanisms, with comparisons against 
expectations and budgets. these control systems are 
communicated throughout the organisation and are 
relied upon to provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance.

Since 1 november 2004 the company has implemented 
iSO 9001:2000 as an additional system to complement 
its internal controls. SaBS (South african Bureau of 
Standards) renewed the certification iSO 9001:2008 on 
29 august 2012 without major non-compliances.

Risk
during the financial year under review there were 
no instances where the Company’s risk environment 
deviated materially from the Company’s risk tolerance.

no undue, unexpected or unusual risks were taken 
during the year in pursuit of financial reward, therefore 
the Board does not foresee any current, imminent 
or envisaged risk that may threaten the long term 
sustainability of the Group.

Ethics
the Board and employees strive to ensure that the 
Group conducts its business with integrity towards its 
shareholders and competitors and every effort is made 
to create a culture and value system that directors, 
employees, business partners and customers are proud 
to be associated with.
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Corporate Governance Review
the Board of directors and management are committed 
to applying the principles of good governance as 
contained in the King report on Governance for South 
africa 2009 (King iii).

in light of this, the Spanjaard Group has during the 
year performed a self assessment against the King iii 
principles to identify the major areas of risk. 

in accordance with the apply or explain philosophy of 
King iii, above mentioned risk areas are set out below 
and responses are given to material issues.

Corporate Governance 
continued

main 
Category Sub Category Scope

Summary of  
status and response reference

Board 
Committees

remuneration 
Committee

all of the members of the 
remuneration Committee 
are not non-executive 
directors.

due to the size of the Group, the 
remuneration Committee consists of 
one executive and one non-executive 
director. the remuneration Committee 
composition will be discussed and 
assessed by the Board and if there is a 
need, additional appointments will be 
made.

King iii principle 
2.23: paragraph 
131

performance 
assessment

performance 
assessment

there is no appropriate 
benchmark; i.e. agreed 
performance measures, 
in place to evaluate the 
performance of the Board 
and its Committees.

no formal evaluation of the Board, its 
Committees or its individual directors 
took place in the 2013 financial year. 
informal valuations are done on an 
ongoing basis throughout the year and 
management believes that these are 
sufficient.

King iii principle 
2.17: paragraph 
51; 
King iii principle 
2.22: paragraph 
110

Governance 
office bearers

Chairman the Chairman is not an 
independent non-executive 
director.

although the Chairman of the Board is 
an executive director, he mostly oversees 
the day to day operations of the Group. a 
lead independent non-executive director 
will function as Chairman in cases where 
the Chairman may be conflicted. the lead 
independent non-executive director is 
also brought in to ensure that no one 
person has unfettered power over the 
Board.

King iii principle 
2.16: paragraph 
37,38;  
jSe listing 
requirements: 
paragraph 3.84(c)
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main 
Category Sub Category Scope

Summary of  
status and response reference

Board and 
directors

Composition 
of the Board

there is no evaluation of 
the independence of non-
executive directors by the 
Chairman.

although the Chairman does not 
evaluate the independence of the non-
executive directors, an informal review is 
performed at each year end to establish 
the independence of the non-executive 
directors.

King iii principle 
2.18: paragraph 
76

accountability integrated 
reporting and 
disclosure

Sustainability reporting is 
not independently assured.

the Group will seek to obtain assurance 
when it is required.

King iii principle 
9.3: paragraph 17

Board 
Committees

nomination 
Committee

there is no nomination 
Committee consisting of 
Board members.

due to the size of the Group this function 
has always been performed by the Board 
of directors as a whole. the Board will 
be considering the needs and legislative 
requirements for additional committees in 
due course.

King iii principle 
2.23: paragraph 
130;  
jSe listing 
requirements: 
paragraph 
3.84(d)

Board and 
directors

Composition 
of the Board

the Board does not comprise 
of a majority of non-
executive directors.

due to the size of the Group the Board 
feels that appointing additional non-
executive directors at this moment 
will neither be cost efficient nor to the 
advantage of the Group.

King iii principle 
2.18: paragraph 
64

audit 
Committee

internal 
financial 
controls

Weaknesses in financial 
controls may result in 
financial loss, fraud or 
material errors.

after evaluation of the financial controls 
no financial loss, fraud or material errors 
were detected.

King iii principle 
3.8: paragraph 70

the King iii application register containing all 75 principles is available on www.spanjaard.biz.

Corporate Governance 
continued
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We have had a very interesting year. no particular 
records, but new directions, much progress and some 
aspirations realised, others not.

total turnover for the year was just under r 1,6m short of 
last year’s all time high of r112m.

net profit after tax is down from r 4,3m to r 4,04m. net 
asset value per ordinary share increased marginally by 
3%.

a downward re-valuation arising from our accounting 
policy of having our property investments professionally 
re-valued every 2 years had a negative effect on the 
Group’s total comprehensive income for the year.

in the Special Lubricants and allied Chemical products 
division local sales for the automotive / Consumer 
and industrial divisions were up 8%. the international 
division has exceeded our expectations. 

turnover of the metal powders division is down 22%. 

a combination of rising input costs and foreign 
exchange fluctuations, together with competitive market 
conditions, have put pressure on our bottom-line.

the re-launch of the molyslip automotive division 
in South africa after an absence of 20 years has not 
developed as expected. For the South african market a 

different approach will be implemented. We also own the 
molyslip trade mark in various international markets and 
are investigating the possibilities this presents.

the total dividend declared for the year is 25c (2012: 28c).

Our succession planning is showing that some sound 
decisions have been made. the appointment of ms elista 
nepgen as managing director in 2010 has proved to be 
a great success. the management team is young and are 
significant shareholders in the company.

We are now in our 26th year of being listed on the 
johannesburg Stock exchange and hope to show that 
new opportunities and marketing approaches will result 
in a material improvement in the new financial year. 

On behalf of all shareholders, a special word of thanks 
to my colleagues on the Board of directors, the 
management team and all our staff for their loyalty and 
passion for the company. 

r.j.W.Spanjaard 
Executive Chairman 
10 may 2013

Chairman’s Report 

We have had a very interesting year. no particular 
records, but new directions, much progress and some 
aspirations realised... the management team is young 
and are significant shareholders in the company.
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Approach to sustainability
in our second year of preparing an integrated annual 
report as required by King iii, we are pleased to reflect 
progress in making a positive contribution to our 
stakeholders, employees and communities.

Where possible, the Group applied the requirements 
of King iii. deviations are reported on in the Corporate 
Governance report and our website, as required.

Our approach to sustainability has a direct impact on our 
profitability and we recognise that failure to manage that 
risk, could have a negative impact on our results.

Scope of report
the sustainable development report has been published 
in accordance with the Sustainability reporting 
Guidelines of the Global reporting initiative and 
reviews the Group’s economic, social and environmental 
performance for the financial year under review.

Sustainable reporting is an on-going process for setting 
organisational strategy, implementing action plans and 
assessing outcomes, and lends support to continuous 
improvement in performance over time. Our major focus 
is skills development and training to ensure continuity 
and growth within the Company, which also contributes 
to transformation in the workplace.

this annual sustainability report covers the financial year 
from 1 march 2012 to 28 February 2013.

Organisational profile
Spanjaard Limited, the holding company, was founded 
in 1960 and listed on the johannesburg Stock exchange 
in 1987. Spanjaard Limited is a developer, manufacturer 
and distributor of specialised lubricants and allied 
chemical products for the industrial, automotive, marine, 
mining and household markets. Subsidiaries include 
Coppermet proprietary Limited, torpedo investments 
proprietary Limited, Slip products Sa proprietary Limited, 
Spanjaard UK Limited, Spanjaard eU BV and Bronzmet 
proprietary Limited. the two main operating divisions are 
Special Lubricants and allied Chemical products, as well 
as the metal powders division.

Our distributor network spans five continents and 
31 countries globally, with headquarters located in 
Wynberg, Sandton, South africa.

the key attributes to Spanjaard’s progressive success 
include our research and development facility, long-term 
business relationships with trusted suppliers, customers 
and service providers, as well as our solid foundation by 
a strong management team.

Spanjaard Limited and Coppermet proprietary Limited 
are accredited iSO 9001 listed manufacturers. We have 
also maintained our Food Safety audit accreditation for 
aerosol pan Sprays, scoring 83%.

Health, safety and environment
We are committed to provide a safe operating 
environment for our employees and conserving our 
environment and natural resources.

Employee health and benefits
Our employees play an integral part in the success and 
future growth of our company.

the Company continues to provide employee benefits to 
its workforce including:

 �  provident Fund;
 �  medical aid;
 �  disability and Funeral cover;
 � Leave as regulated in the Basic Conditions of 

employment act; and
 � training.

We strive to continually improve our employees’ benefits 
through annual reviews, and provide assistance to our 
factory staff by contributing 100% of their medical aid.

Sustainability Report 

Our employees play an integral part 
in  the success and future growth of 
our company.



Spanjaard Limited 2013 | integrated annual report 11

Sustainability Report 
continued

Employee safety
the safety of our employees is a core priority. through 
our established Occupational, Health and Safety 
Committee, we promote and maintain a safe operating 
environment. the Committee meets on a monthly basis 
to assess the Company’s risk areas and required actions.

it is the goal of the Committee to provide training in 
respect of fire and first aid, and to develop systems and 
standards throughout our operations.

the Committee devises the necessary emergency and 
recovery plans and ensure that precautions are taken to 
prevent injuries and incidents.

Environmental management
the Company acknowledges the impact its operational 
and other activities have on the environment. We 
recognise that we have a responsibility to minimise our 
own impact and to adapt to the risks associated with 
climate change.

the Company is committed to developing ways in which 
to reduce the impacts systematically over time.

Spanjaard Limited was successfully assessed by Global 
Carbon exchange for its greenhouse gas emissions 
for the period march 2011 to February 2012. an 
environmental risk assessment of the Group’s operations 
is undertaken annually and performance objectives are 
set on an annual basis.

Operational activities covered include: 

 � direct emissions resulting from fuel used by 
equipment owned or controlled by Spanjaard 
Limited (e.g. fuel for generators), gas refills from air 
conditioning and refrigeration, and the vehicle fleet 
(referred to as Scope 1 emissions);

 � indirect emissions from purchased electricity (referred 
to as Scope 2 emissions); and

 � selected indirect emissions resulting from Spanjaard’s 
business travel activities (flights, rental cars and 
hotel accommodation), consumption of office paper, 
external communications paper (including magazines, 
envelopes and flyers), cardboard packaging, plastic 
bags, employee commuting and outsourced transport 
/ distribution of merchandise (referred to as Scope 3 
emissions).

the majority (92%) of the total carbon emissions we 
generate relates to the use of our current propellant in 
our manufacturing operations. We continually strive to 
find alternative, less harmful propellants to reduce the 
significant impact.

the Company continue its efforts to reduce waste in 
production through chemical recycling and good waste 
disposal practises.

the Group’s environmental performance is incorporated 
into the Social and ethics committee comprising 
executive and non-executive independent directors as 
well as members of staff by invitation.

the Social and ethics Committee meets on a quarterly 
basis and reports to the Board of directors. the charter 
of the Committee sets out its objectives and reporting 
processes.

as we do not envisage a significant movement (over 
the short to medium term) to products differentiated 
on ethical or environmental criteria within our sector, 
our Group business strategy has deliberately focused 
on prioritising governance, optimisation and efficiency 
initiatives, and employee awareness and supply 
chain issues, over product-related or “green branding” 
initiatives, which currently receive a lesser emphasis.

We continue to implement more systematic approaches 
for measuring key environmental performance data, 
with a longer-term view to setting quantitative 
performance targets.
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BROAD-BASED BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT

an accredited external BBBee ratings agency assessed the 
status of the two manufacturing operations, Spanjaard 
Limited and Coppermet proprietary Limited.

the companies achieved a Level 8 and Level 6 rating 
respectively, giving all our clients 10% and 60% Bee 
procurement recognition.

in view of the proposed changes to the BBBee codes, 
which will see preferential procurement and enterprise 
development consolidated into one element called 
supplier development, it is difficult to implement a strategy 
that will increase the overall procurement until clarity 
has been provided on how these changes will affect 
procurement in future.

the Company has a renewed focus on improving our 
ratings in the long run.

Employment equity
in order to ensure compliance with the employment 
equity act, various measures have been implemented in 
the workplace to ensure that the objectives of the act are 
attained.

We have focused on increased awareness of equity 
and fair treatment amongst our workforce in order to 
eliminate unfair discrimination, and the implementation of 
affirmative action measures to redress the disadvantages 
in employment experienced by designated groups and 
women and people with disabilities.

  2012 2013

Black Staff 50% 63%

the Company has embarked on annual staff evaluations 
in order to address the employment equity challenges. 
new initiatives are being put in place to provide more 
opportunities for staff to grow within the Company and 
prevent stagnating or resigning.

Sustainability Report 
continued

TUT students obtain some practical skills 
during the Company’s year end stock take
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Skills development
the Group remains committed to skills development, 
concentrating on staff training and believes  that a diverse 
and skilled workforce provides the quality and services 
that create a competitive advantage. We have accordingly 
submitted our workplace skills plan to CHieta to ensure 
the continuous growth of the Group’s skills base.

Socio-economic development
Spanjaard Limited recognises its responsibility as a 
corporate citizen in making a positive contribution to the 
socio-economic development of South africa.

With the commitment and dedication of management and 
staff we strive to create sustainable and successful projects 
that included:

 � two bursaries provided to previously disadvantaged 
students in furthering their education;

 � Contributing financially and sponsoring product, as well 
as participating in Quads4Quads, an event held to raise 
funds and awareness for the Quadpara association of 
South africa. r1 million was raised and donated with the 
help of numerous other sponsors;

 � recruiting previously disadvantaged University students 
on an ad-hoc basis, providing practical experience in 
assisting to obtain their degrees.

Sustainability Report 
continued

Spanjaard Limited recognises its 
responsibility as a corporate citizen 
in making a positive contribution to 
the socio-economic development of 
South africa.

Association of South Africa (QASA)

Spanjaard Limited sponsors and participates in Quads4Quads, an event held to raise funds and awareness for the QuadPara 
Association of South Africa. R1 million was raised and donated with the help of numerous other sponsors
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 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
  R’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

turnover  111,045  112,637  102,068  90,922  97,216 

profit from operations  6,791  8,858  9,043  4,038  6,935 

Finance income/(cost)  (786)  (1,473)  (1,430)  (694)  1,628 

interest income/(expense) - net  (1,437)  (1,415)  (1,483)  (91)  447 

(Loss) / profit on foreign exchange  651  (58)  53  (603)  1,181 

profit before tax  6,005  7,385  7,613  3,344  8,563 

income tax expense  (1,970)  (3,047)  (2,785)  (1,001)  (3,095)

net profit  4,035  4,338  4,828  2,343  5,468 

dividend declared  (2,036)  (2,280)  (2,524)  -  (6,921)

profit / (Loss) after dividend 1,999  2,058  2,304  2,343  (1,453)

earnings and diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents) 49,6  53,3 59,3   28,8  67,1 

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per 
ordinary share (cents) 50,0  53,3 58,8  28,1  67,2 

net asset value per ordinary share (cents) 514,1  501,1  474,4  419,8  391,7 

dividend declared per ordinary share (cents)  
.........................- interim / dividend relating to prior periods 15,0  10,0  15,0  -  15,0 
.........................- final 10,0  18,0  16,0  -  70,0 

Five-year Review

2012 20122013
by geographic

market
by geographic

market

Sales  
revenue

Sales  
revenue

  South africa 83%
  europe 4%
  asia 8%
  africa 4%
  rest of the world 1%

  South africa 86%
  europe 3%
  asia 5%
  africa 6%
  rest of the world 0%

2013

 Special lubricants and 
allied chemicals 84%

 metal powders 12%
 Other 4%

 Special lubricants and 
allied chemicals 87%

 metal powders 10%
 Other 3%

by operating 
segment

by operating 
segment

Sales  
revenue

Sales  
revenue



Spanjaard Limited 2013 | integrated annual report 15

the directors are required by the Companies act 
of South africa, to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and 
integrity of the annual financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. it is their 
responsibility to ensure that the annual financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 
Company as at the end of the financial year and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the period 
then ended, in conformity with international Financial 
reporting Standards. the external auditors are engaged 
to express an independent opinion on the annual 
financial statements.

the annual financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with international Financial reporting 
Standards, the aC 500 standards as issued by the 
apB and based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates.

the directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Company and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. to enable the directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a 
cost effective manner. the standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable 
level of risk. 

these controls are monitored throughout the Company 
and all employees are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring the Company’s business 
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach. the focus of risk 
management in the Company is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the Company. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the Company endeavors to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

the directors are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. the directors 
have reviewed the Company’s cash flow forecast for the 
year to 28 February 2014 and, in light of this review and 
the current financial position , they are satisfied that the 
Company has access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

the external auditors are responsible for independently 
reviewing and reporting on the Company’s annual 
financial statements. the annual financial statements 
have been examined by the Company’s external auditors 
and their report is presented on page 18.

the annual financial statements set out on page 24-54, 
which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the directors on 10 may 2013 and 
were signed on its behalf by:   

r.j.W. Spanjaard

H.j. Van Heerden

Statement of Responsibility 
by the Board of directors

the annual financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with 
international Financial reporting 
Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgments 
and estimates.
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i confirm that the Company has lodged with the registrar of Companies all such returns as are required to be lodged 
by a public company in terms of the Companies act no 71 of 2008, as amended, and that all such returns are true, 
correct and up to date as at 28 February 2013.

mS S.F. Venter 
Company Secretary

Company Secretary’s Confirmation 
in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies act
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial 
year ended 28 February 2013.

Audit Committee members
the audit Committee consists of the members listed 
below and during the year under review 4 meetings were 
held.

 � prof d.p. van der nest  (Chairman)
 � mr. B.L. montgomery
 � mrs. S. Hari

Audit Committee responsibility
We report that we have adopted appropriate and formal 
terms of reference. We further report that we conducted 
our affairs in compliance with this charter.

the Committee has considered the independence 
requirements of the independent regulatory Board 
for auditors and carried out procedures as considered 
necessary to satisfy itself that the auditor of Spanjaard 
Limited  was independent as defined by the Companies 
act of South africa.

The effectiveness of internal control
the system of internal control applied by Spanjaard 
Limited over financial management is effective, efficient 
and transparent. Because of the nature and size of 
the company, no internal audits were conducted. the 
company has during the 2013 financial year performed 
an independant risk analysis which showed that internal 
controls were effective. 

From the audit report on the annual Financial 
Statements it was noted that no matters were reported 
that indicate any material deficiencies in the system 
of internal control or any deviations there from. 
accordingly, we can report that the system of internal 
control over financial reporting for the period under 
review was effecient and effective.

The quality of in year management and monthly / 
quarterly reports
Committee members are provided with monthly 
management accounts and the comments from 
management.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
We have:

 � reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 
statements to be included in the annual report;

 � reviewed the auditor’s report;
 � reviewed and are satisfied with the level of expertise 

and experience of the Financial director and the 
finance function; and

 � reviewed the company’s compliance with legal and 
regulatory provisions;

 � noted that there were no significant adjustments 
resulting from the audit.

We concur with and accept the auditor’s report on the 
annual financial statements.

prOF d.p. Van der neSt 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee 
10 may 2013

audit Committee Report
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of Spanjaard Limited set out on pages 
24 to 54, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 28 February 2013, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements
the Company’s directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
and separate financial statements in accordance with 
international Financial reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies act of South africa, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated and separate financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
international Standards on auditing.  those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. the procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  an 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
in our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position of Spanjaard 
Limited at 28 February 2013, and its consolidated and 
separate financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with international 
Financial reporting Standards, and the requirements of 
the Companies act of South africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act
as part of our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements for the year 28 February 2013, we 
have read the directors’ report, the audit Committee’s 
report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for 
the purpose of identifying whether there are material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the audited 
consolidated and separate financial statements. the 
reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. 
Based on our reading of the reports we have not 
identified material inconsistencies between these reports 
and the audited financial statements. However, we have 
not audited these reports and accordingly do not express 
an opinion on them.

maZarS 
partner: miles Fisher 
Registered Auditor 
10 may 2013 
johannesburg

report of the Independent Auditors 
to the Shareholders of Spanjaard Limited
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the directors have pleasure in submitting their annual 
report which forms part of the audited financial 
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year 
ended 28 February 2013.

Nature of business
the Company is a manufacturer and distributor of 
specialised lubricants and allied chemical products 
for the industrial, automotive, mining, marine and 
household markets. Subsidiaries comprise two 
companies producing metal powders, two property 
companies, three foreign companies trading in the 
United Kingdom, the netherlands and australia and one 
dormant company in Zimbabwe.

export business continues to form a significant part of 
turnover.

General review and financial results
the financial statements on pages 24 to 54, together 
with the notes thereto, set out fully the financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows of the Group for the 
financial year ended 28 February 2013 and require no 
further explanation.    

Subsequent events
no reportable matter which is material to the financial 
affairs of the Company or the Group, has occurred 
between 28 February 2013 and the date of approval of 
the annual financial statements.

Share capital
there were no changes in the authorised or issued share 
capital of the Group during the year under review (2012: 
nil).

Dividends
the directors have declared a final dividend (no. 23) of 
10 cents per share for the year ended 28 February 2013. 
the last day to trade cum dividend is Friday, 17 may 
2013, payable to all shareholders of Spanjaard Limited 
recorded in the books of the Company at the close of 
business on Friday, 24 may 2013. Shares will commence 
trading ex-dividend on monday, 20 may 2013. the 

dividend is payable on monday, 27 may 2013 and is 
expected to be r 814,285. Share certificates may not be 
dematerialised / rematerialised between monday, 20 
may 2013 and Friday, 24 may 2013, both days inclusive. 
an interim dividend (no. 22) of 15 cents per share 
was declared on 24 October 2012. dividends totalled 
r2,035,713 for the year (2012: r2 279 998 ). no secondary 
tax on companies was payable for the 2013 financial year 
due to the new withholding tax on dividends explained 
below. Secondary tax on companies amounted to 
r227,800 for the 2012 financial year. the liquidity and 
insolvency tests were performed by the directors before 
the dividend declaration and no issues were detected.

in order to align South africa’s tax treatment of dividends 
with that in most other countries, a new withholding 
tax on dividends was implemented on 1 april 2012. the 
rate of withholding tax declared on 1 april 2012 was and 
remains 15%.  this means that the shareholder will now 
receive 85% of the dividend declared by the company 
after 1 april 2012, unless exempt for dividends tax.

in accordance with the provisions of the Listings 
requirements of the johannesburg Stock exchange, the 
following additional information is disclosed:

 � the dividend has been declared out of profits available 
for distribution.

 � the local dividends tax rate is 15%.
 � the gross local dividend amount is 10 cents per share 

for shareholders exempt from dividends tax. 
 � no Secondary tax on Companies’ credits have been 

utilised. 
 � the net local dividend amount is 8,5 cents per share for 

shareholders liable for dividends tax.
 � Spanjaard has 8 142 850 ordinary shares in issue.
 � Spanjaard’s income tax reference number is  

9543 676 84 6.

Property, plant and equipment
during the year the Group purchased property, plant 
and equipment amounting to r 1,536,455 (2012: r 
1,532,711) and the Company purchased plant and 
equipment amounting to r 1,448,632 (2012: r 1,313,929), 
consisting mainly of plant and machinery. Future capital 
expenditure will be funded from internal resources and, 
if appropriate, borrowings. 

directors’ Report
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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during the year the Group disposed of property, plant 
and equipment amounting to r 180,560 (2012: rniL) 
and the Company disposed of  property, plant and 
equipment amounting to r 78,580 (2012: rniL).

during the year under review the Group showed 
a devaluation in property, plant and equipment 
amounting to r 436,338 (2012: rniL). there were no 
valuations done in the Company during the 2013 
financial year (2012: rniL).

Holding company and ultimate holding company

the Company’s holding company and ultimate holding 
company is Spanjaard Group Limited, which held 54.0% 
(2012: 54.4%) of the issued share capital at year end.

Going concern

the financial statements have been prepared using 
appropriate accounting policies, supported by 
reasonable judgments and estimates. 

directors’ Report
for the year ended 28 February 2013

the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern. 
the directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency test required by the Companies act of South africa. 

Subsidiary companies
the following information relates to the Group’s financial interest in its subsidiaries.

  Country of 
incorporation

issued share 
capital

% interest  
held

Shares at cost 
2013

R’000

Shares at cost 
2012

r’000

Bronzmet proprietary Limited1 South africa  r 100  100 -3 -3

Coppermet proprietary Limited South africa  r 10,100  100 -3 -3

Slip products (S.a.) proprietary 
Limited South africa  r 200  100 -3 -3

torpedo investments 
proprietary Limited South africa  r 2  100 -3 -3

Spanjaard UK Limited United Kingdom  GBp 24,181  100  228  228 

Spanjaard eU BV the netherlands  eUr 22,689  100 -3 -3

molyslip Zimbabwe (private) 
Limited2 Zimbabwe  Z$ 500  100 -3 -3

Spanjaard manufacturing 
(proprietary) Limited4 australia  aUS$ 10,000  100 -3 -3

228 228

1  Indirectly held via Coppermet Proprietary Limited
2  Indirectly held via Spanjaard UK Limited
3  Shareholding less than R 1,000 is not reflected.
4  Indirectly held via Spanjaard EU BV.

the results of the subsidiaries so far as concerns the members of the Group are as follows: 

net (loss)(r1,174,968) (2012: profit:r 574,066).
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Directorate 
the Board of directors consists of three independent non-executive directors and six executive directors.
the following were the directors of the Company during the financial year:

directors appointed on: 

R.J.W. Spanjaard (76)
executive Chairman
Founder of the Spanjaard Group of Companies in 1960. mr Spanjaard is a Fellow of the institute of directors of 
South africa. 2 december 1960 

Ms E. Nepgen (31)
executive Managing director
joined Spanjaard Limited in an accountant capacity in September 2007 and was appointed Financial director in 
june 2009. in july 2010 ms nepgen was appointed managing director. ms nepgen obtained her B.Com accounting 
degree from the University of johannesburg and completed her articles in 2007. ms nepgen is a member of the 
institute of directors of South africa. 5 june 2009

G.F. Cort (37)
executive director
joined our sales staff in 1996. Currently mr Cort’s portfolio includes supervision of international sales and logistics 
related thereto. 6 February 2006 

Mrs S. Hari (41)
independent non-executive director
mrs Hari is an independent consultant who specialises in corporate finance and governance support. mrs Hari also 
currently serves on the audit Committees of various companies both as Chairperson and member, and is also a 
member of the institute of internal auditors Sa and the institute of directors of South africa. 1 november 2011 

B.L. Montgomery (63)
non-executive director
is a stockbroker and was connected with our jSe listing in 1987. 23 november 2005 

C.K.T. Palmer (42)
executive director
Has an m.Sc and mBa from the University of OFS and is currently in charge of all technical matters, including 
research and product development. 7 October 2008

S.A. Pretorius (36)
executive director
joined Spanjaard Limited in a managerial capacity june 2010. mr pretorius previously worked for the company for 
10 years before pursuing his own business interests in engineering operations and rejoining Spanjaard Limited in 
2010. 7 january 2011

Prof D.P. van der Nest (44)
lead independent non-executive director
prof van der nest is currently head of the department of auditing at the tshwane University of technology. He is 
also a member of the institute of public Finance and auditing and the institute of internal auditors.

1 november 2006
 

H.J. van Heerden (36)
executive Financial director
joined Spanjaard Limited in an accountant capacity in july 2009 and was appointed Financial director in july 2010. 
mr van Heerden obtained his B.Com accounting degree from the University of potchefstroom and completed his 
articles in 2003. 23 july 2010

directors’ Report
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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Interests of Directors
the interests of directors in the shares of the company during the year were as follows:

2013

director direct Beneficial indirect Beneficial Held by associates total %

r.j.W. Spanjaard  680,943  4,399,385  - 5,080,328 62,39%

ms e. nepgen  710,000  -  -  710,000 8,72%

G.F. Cort  306,000  -  - 306,000 3,76%

B.L. montgomery*  150,000  -  - 150,000 1,84%

C.K.t. palmer  100,000  -  - 100,000 1,23%

S.a. pretorius  400,000  -  - 400,000 4,91%

 2,346,943  4,399,385  - 6,746,328 82,85%

2012

director direct Beneficial indirect Beneficial Held by associates total %

r.j.W. Spanjaard  680,943  4,429,269  -  5,110,212 62,76%

ms e. nepgen  710,000  -  -  710,000 8,72%

G.F. Cort  306,000  -  - 306,000 3,76%

B.L. montgomery* 150,000  -  - 150,000 1,84%

C.K.t. palmer 100,000  -  - 100,000 1,23%

S.a. pretorius  400,000  -  - 400,000 4,91%

 2,346,943  4,429,269  - 6,776,212 83,22%

*Non-executive

the interests of senior management totalled 6,596,328 shares (2012: 6,626,212). no change in the directors’ interest 
has taken place between 28 February 2013 and the date of this report. there were no contracts of significance during 
or at the end of the financial year in which the directors of the Company are materially interested. 

Special resolutions
no special resolutions were passed during the financial year, other than those that were passed at the annual general 
meeting on 19 july 2012.

directors’ Report
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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Directors remuneration
directors remuneration for the year under review in aggregate was as follows: 

Short-term Benefits

post 
employ-

ment 
Benefits total total

Fees Basic Allowances Medical Incentive Retirement 2013 2012

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 r’000

executive directors                

r.j.W. Spanjaard  -   2,357 130 77 171  -   2,735 2,878 

ms e. nepgen  -   1,355 8 49 171 47 1,630 1,562 

G.F. Cort  -   897 4 49 78 102 1,130 1,264 

C.K.t. palmer  -   643  -    -   42 71 756 789 

S.a. pretorius  -   791 4 43 96 48 982 1,029 

H.j. van Heerden  -   655  -    -   42 48 745 690 

   -   6,698 146 218 600 316 7,978 8,212 

non-executive directors                

B.L. montgomery 125  -    -    -    -    -   125 125 

prof d.p. van der nest 125  -    -    -    -    -   125 125 

mrs S. Hari 125  -    -    -    -    -   125 42 

  375  -    -    -    -    -   375 292

in terms of the memorandum of incorporation the fees for directors’ services are determined by the Company in an 
annual general meeting.

Company Secretary
ms S.F. Venter was appointed on 26 march 2012. Her business and postal addresses are:

Business address: Postal address:
748-750 Fifth Street P O Box 7294
Wynberg Johannesburg
Sandton 2000
2090  
Auditors
mazars will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies act.

directors’ Report
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 28 February 2013

  Group Group Company Company
 notes 2013 2012 2013 2012
  R’000 R’000 R’000 r’000

ASSETS   
Non-current assets   
  property, plant and equipment 3  34,237   35,978   11,311   11,894 

  Goodwill 4 437 437  –   - 

  investment in subsidiaries 5  –   –  228 228

  intangible assets 6 6 7  –   - 

   34,680   36,422   11,539   12,122 

Current assets   
  inventories 7  15,018   12,048   13,466   10,595 

  trade receivables and prepayments 8  14,751   20,023   13,196   16,098 

  amount due by subsidiaries and related companies 9 73 73  7,470   5,543 

  amount due by holding company 10  3,861   6,250   3,883   6,263 

  Current income tax receivable  274  –   –  – 

  Cash and cash equivalents 11  3,318   1,478  669  1,383 

   37,295  39,872   38,684   39,882 

Total assets   71,975  76,294   50,223   52,004 

EQUITY & LIABILITIES   

Capital and reserves attributable the Company’s  
equity holders   

  Ordinary shares 12 407 407 407 407

  Share premium 12  6,464   6,464   6,464   6,464 

  reserves   34,989   33,934   21,765   19,696 

  Foreign currency translation reserve 13 (601) (93)  –   - 

  revaluation reserve 14 8,296  9,630   2,223   2,812 

  retained earnings   27,294   24,397   19,542   16,884 

Total shareholders’ equity   41,860   40,805   28,636   26,567 

Non-current liabilities   

  Borrowings 15  5,873   7,603   1,433   1,569 

  deferred tax liabilities 16  5,024  3,914   1,293  701

   10,897   11,517   2,726   2,270 

Current liabilities   

  trade and other payables 17  15,152  17,743   13,834  15,015 

  Borrowings 15  3,211   3,355   1,309   1,876 

  taxation  – 685 29 747

  provisions   – 675 – 632

  Loans from Group companies 18  –   –   2,834   3,383 

  Shareholders for dividends  855  1 514  855  1,514 

   19,218  23,972   18,861  23,167 

Total liabilities   30,115  35,489   21,587   25,437 
Total equity and liabilities   71,975  76,294   50,223   52,004 
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Statement of Comprehensive income 
for the year ended 28 February 2013

  Group Group Company Company
  2013 2012 2013 2012
 notes R’000 R’000 R’000 r’000

Revenue 20  112,213   112,953   104,556   99,544 
turnover 20  111,045    112,637   103,404   98,587 

Cost of sales   (68,403)  (69,620)  (65,741)  (62,656)

Gross profit   42,642  43,017   37,663  35,931 

Other income   1,854  316  1,838  957

distribution costs   (17,242)  (16,169)  (14,802)  (11,713)

administrative expenses   (19,812)  (18,364)  (18,280)  (18,018)

Finance costs 24(a)  (1,440)  (1,436) (758) (663)

Finance income 24(b) 3 21 3 7

Profit before tax 21  6,005   7,385   5,664   6,501  
taxation 25  (1,970)  (3,047)  (1,559)  (2,248)

profit   4,035   4,338   4,105   4,253  

Other comprehensive income   

movement in foreign currency translation reserve 13 (508) 114  –   – 

Loss on revaluation on freehold land and buildings 3,14  (436)  –   –   – 

tax effect on loss on revaluation on freehold land and buildings  –  –   –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the year  3,091 4,452  4,105  4,253 

  Cents Cents

Earnings and diluted earnings per ordinary share 26 50,0 53,3
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Statements of Changes in equity
as at 28 February 2013

   Foreign
   Currency
 Share Share translation revaluation retained 
 capital premium reserve reserve earnings Total
Group r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 R’000

Balance at 1 march 2011 407  6,464  (207)  10,350  21,619   38,633 
total comprehensive income for the year  –   –  114  –   4,338   4,452 
     – profit  –   –   –   –   4,338   4,338 

     – foreign currency translation reserve  –   –  114  –   –  114
movement in reserves (note 14)  –   –   –  (720) 720 – 

dividend paid (note 29)  –   –   –   –   (2,280)  (2,280)
Balance at 1 march 2012 407  6,464  (93)  9,630   24,397   40,805 
total comprehensive income for the year – – (508)  (436) 4,035  3,091 

     – profit  –   –   –   –  4,035   4,035
     – foreign currency translation reserve  –   –  (508)  –   –  (508)
     – revaluation  –   –   –   (436)  –   (436)
movement in reserves (note 14)   –   –  (898) 898 –
dividend paid (note 29)  –   –   –   –   (2,036)  (2,036)

Balance at 28 February 2013 407  6,464  (601)  8,296  27,294  41,860
notes 12 12 13 14  

Company   

Balance at 1 march 2011 407  6,464   –   3,401  14,322   24,594 
total comprehensive income for the year - profit  –   –   –   –   4,253   4,253 
movement in reserves (note 14)  –   –   –  (589) 589 – 

dividend paid (note 29)  –   –   –   –   (2,280)  (2,280)
Balance at 1 march 2012 407  6,464   –   2,812   16,884   26,567 

total comprehensive income for the year - profit  –   –   –    –   4,105   4,105 

movement in reserves (note 14)  –   –   –  (589) 589 –
dividend paid (note 29)  –   –   –   –   (2,036)  (2,036)

Balance at 28 February 2013 407  6,464  – 2,223  19,542  28,636

notes 12 12  14   

  2013 2012

  Cents Cents
Dividend per ordinary share: 
dividend relating to interim declaration   15 10

Final dividend - payable in next financial year  10 18
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Cash Flow Statements 
for the year ended 28 February 2013 

  Group Group Company Company
  2013 2012 2013 2012
 notes R’000 R’000 R’000 r’000

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash generated from operations 27  8,854   7,141   6,535   6,922 

Finance costs 24(a)  (1,440)  (1,436) (758) (663)

Finance income 24(b) 3 21 3 7

tax paid 28  (1,990)  (3,075)  (1,685)  (3,031)

dividends paid 29  (2,695)  (2,104)  (2,695)  (2,104)

net cash generated from operating activities   2,732  547  1,400   1,131

Cash flows from investing activities   

purchases of property, plant and equipment 3  (707)  (1,533)  (620)  (1,314)

decrease / (increase) in amount due by holding company   2,388   1,863  (95)  1,861 
decrease / (increase) in amount due by related company   –  (20)  –  (106)

proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  130  –  130 – 

net cash (used) in / generated from investing activities  1,811 310  (585) 441

Cash flows from financing activities   

increase / (decrease) in borrowings   (2,703)  (1,752) (1,529) (692)

net cash generated from financing activities   (2,703)  (1,752) (1,529) (692)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   1,840 (895) (714) 880

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   1,478   2,373   1,383  503

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 11  3,318   1,478  669  1,383
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notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 28 February 2013

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

 estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 the Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, not always equal the related 
actual results. the estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

 A.  Basis of preparation
  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial reporting Standards, the aC500 standards as issued by 

the apB and the Companies act of South africa, 2008. the financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as 
described in the accounting policies below.

  iFrS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements - Clarification on inclusion of entities in consolidation, iFrS 12: disclosure of interest in Other entities - 
new disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, iFrS 13: Fair Value measurement - new guidance on fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements, iaS 19: employee Benefits - amendments to the definition of short-term employee benefits. these amendments will 
be applied in the coming year. these will result in different disclosures, but is expected to have no effect on the reported numbers.

 B.  Group accounting
  Subsidiaries, which are those entities in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to govern 

the financial and operating policies, are consolidated.

  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that 
control ceases. the acquisition method of accounting will be used to account for the future acquisition of subsidiaries. the cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition, costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition are expensed immediately. the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is 
recorded as goodwill.

 C. Investment in subsidiaries of the Company
  investment in subsidiaries are recognised at cost. these investments are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

 D. Foreign currency translation
  (1) Functional and presentation currency

   items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). the consolidated financial statements are presented in South african 
rands, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

  (2) transactions and balances

   Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit and loss.

  (3) Group companies

   the results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

   (i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

   (ii)   income and expenses for each profit and loss item are translated at average exchange rates for the year; and

   (iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.

  On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are taken to equity through other 
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised as a reclassification adjustment to profit and 
loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 E. Borrowing costs
  interest costs are charged against income using the effective interest rate method as there are no qualifying assets within the Group in the current 

or prior year.

 F. Property, plant and equipment
  the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:  

  - it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company; and 

  - the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

  property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost including amounts incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment 
and to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  amounts 
incurred subsequent to initial recognition to add or replace part of an asset or as part of major maintenance are also recognised at cost.  Land and 
buildings comprise mainly factories and offices and are shown at fair value, based on periodic valuations by an external independent valuator. any 
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated 
to the revalued amount of the asset. plant and machinery is carried at revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and impairment. all other 
property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment.  

  depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost or revalued amount of each asset to their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:  

  Buildings  25 – 50 years

  plant and machinery  5 – 25 years

  motor vehicles  5 years

  Office furniture and equipment  3 – 10 years

   Land is not depreciated  

  depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of derecognition or when classified as held-for-sale.  

  Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are included in operating profit. When revalued 
assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.  

  repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. the cost of major renovations are 
included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits of the renovation of the existing asset will flow to 
the Group. major renovations are depreciated until new renovations are expected.  

  the residual value of assets are calculated by management after inspection of the machinery on an annual basis and comparisons with market-
related prices. the assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted as a change in estimate is appropriate, 
at each financial year end.   

  the residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the 
estimated cost of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

  When a decision is made to sell an item of property, plant and equipment during the year, and it meets the requirements of iFrS 5 non-current 
assets Held for Sale and discontinued Operations, the asset is carried at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and 
depreciation on that asset ceases until it is sold. any impairment is recognised directly in profit or loss.

 G. Intangible assets
  an intangible asset is recognised when:

  -  it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

  - the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

  intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and they are subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses.

  the amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each financial year end.

  amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, as follows:  

  trademarks  10 years

notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 H. Impairment of assets  
  the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. if any such indication exists, the Group 

estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

  irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group tests goodwill annually, and at the same time each year.

  if there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. if it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

  the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

  the value in use is determined as an estimate of future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate as derived from the use of the asset.

  if the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount with the difference recognised 
as an impairment loss.

  an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss. any 
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

  an impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. the 
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

  - first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and

  - then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

  the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than 
goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. if any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

  the increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

  a reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

 I. Financial instruments
  Initial recognition

  the Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity 
instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

  Loans to (from) Group companies

  these include loans to or from holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct 
transaction costs.

  Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised to reflect 
irrecoverable amounts.

  On loans receivable an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. Objective evidence 
includes South african reserve Bank exchange regulations and the ability of the entities to remit their loans based on annual assessments. 
the impairment is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

  impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the loan’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is 
reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

  Loans to Group companies are classified as loans and receivables.

  Loans from Group companies are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

  Trade and other receivables

  trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset 
is impaired. Objective evidence includes notifications received of financial difficulties and long overdue accounts. receivables are only impaired to 
the extent not recoverable from Credit Guarantee insurance Corporation of africa Limited (referred to as ‘Credit Guarantee’ in these statements). 
Credit Guarantee insures the Group against the non-recovery of receivables. the allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated recovery from Credit Guarantee using the original effective interest rate.

  trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

  Trade and other payables

  trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised costs. these are categorised 
as liabilities held at amortised cost.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. these are initially recorded at fair value plus any 
transaction costs. Cash and cash equivalents are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

  Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables.

  Borrowings

  Borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
rate method. any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over 
the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

  Borrowings are categorised as liabilities held at amortised cost.

  Derivatives

  derivative financial instruments, which are not designated as hedging instruments, consists of foreign exchange contracts. these are initially 
measured at fair value on the contract date and transaction costs are expensed. these are re-measured to market value at subsequent reporting 
dates.

  Changes in the value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

  derivatives are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

  the fair value of the forward exchange contract is calculated at market to market price of similar contracts at the reporting date.

  Derecognition of financial instruments

  a financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

  a financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire, are transferred or are discharged.

 J. Leases
  Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the balance 
outstanding. the corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. the interest element of the 
finance cost is charged to profit and loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. the property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the 
asset or the lease term if they will be returned.

  Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. payments made 
under operating leases are charged to profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

 K. Inventories
  inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. the cost of finished 

goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal 
operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs 
of completion and selling expenses.

 L. Prepayments
  prepayments comprise expenditure paid in advance for which benefits will be realised in subsequent periods.

 M. Share capital
  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than in connection with a 

business combination, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 N. Taxation
  Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax 

arises from:

  – a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or 

  – a business combination.

  Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the 
same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

  Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a 
different period, directly in equity.

  Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability.

  if the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

  Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax 
authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 O. Deferred income tax
  deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all tax deductible temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax asset or 

liability arises from:

  – the initial recognition of goodwill; or

  – the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which

	 	 				•	is	not	a	business	combination;	and

	 	 				•	at	the	time	of	the	transaction,	affects	neither	accounting	profit	nor	taxable	profit	(tax	loss).

  deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 P. Employee benefits
  (1) Short-term employee benefits

   the cost of short-term employee benefits are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and is not discounted.

   the expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, 
in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

  (2) Provident fund obligations

   Spanjaard employees are members of a scheme that is funded through payments to a defined contribution plan. a defined contribution 
plan is a provident plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee service 
in the current and prior periods. Once the contributions have been paid, the Company has no further payment obligations. the regular 
contributions constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they are due and as such are included in staff costs as the related service is 
rendered.

 Q. Provisions
  provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 R. Revenue recognition
  revenue is measured at the fair value of the amount received or receivable. Sales are recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership 

of the goods are transferred to the buyer.

  interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

 
 S. Dividends 
  dividends payable are recorded in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which they are declared. 

 T. Judgements and estimates 
  estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

  the Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, not always equal the 
related actual results. the estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

  a) provision for obsolete stock

   Specific provision is made for obsolete stock based on past experience.

   Stock that has not moved for the past six months is scrutinised and management’s best judgment is used to determine whether stock will still 
be used in future manufacturing or need to be written off.

  b) provision for doubtful debts.

   a provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered objective indicators that the trade receivable 
is impaired. a substantial portion of the receivable is insured by Credit Guarantee and will not result in a movement in the provision.

   the trade receivables are insured with Credit Guarantee Corporation of africa Limited. Only the risk portion of the impaired trade receivables 
will be disclosed as an impairment, 80% of insured trade receivables are insured per the mentioned policy. 

  c) depreciation of property, plant and equipment

   depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to depreciate their cost to residual values over their estimated useful lives. 
the depreciation method, rates, the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if necessary, at each reporting date.

  d) Costing of finished goods.

   Calculation of an assembly variance with the manufacturing of finished goods are based on the cost of raw materials used per the recipe of 
the finished product including a scrap percentage of 3 percent.

 U. Segment reporting 
  an operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, the 

operating results of which are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Operating decision maker. at Spanjaard, the chief operating decision maker 
and the Board of directors assesses the business results by product, lubricants and metal powders. please refer to note 2.

notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013

 

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 V. Standards, Interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective 
  Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are listed below. this listing is of standards and 

interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. the Group intends to adopt those standards when 
they become effective. 

  Standard or Amendment Details of Standard or amendment Effective date

  iFrS 7:  Financial instruments: disclosures amendment: Offsetting Financial assets and Financial Liabilities. 02 january 2015

  iFrS 9:  Financial instruments new standard that forms the first part of a three-part project to 
    replace iaS 39: Financial instruments: recognition and measurement. 02 january 2015

  iFrS 10:  Consolidated Financial Statements new standard that replaces the consolidation requirements in SiC-12 
    Consolidation-Special purpose entities and iaS 27: Consolidated and 
    Separate Financial Statements. Standard builds on existing principles
     by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in 
    whether an entity should be included within the consolidated 
    financial statements of the parent company and provides additional 
    guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult 
    to assess. 01 january 2013

    an amendment that limits the requirement to provide adjusted 
    comparative information on transition to iFrS 10, iFrS 11 and iFrS 12. 01 january 2013
    
  iFrS 12:  disclosure of interest in Other entities new standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests 
    in other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special 
    purpose entities and other off balance sheet entities. 01 january 2013

    amendment: limiting the requirements to provide adjusted 
    comparative information on transition to iFrS 10, iFrS 11 and iFrS 12. 01 january 2013

    amendment: disclosure requirements for investment entities 
    that are fair valued. 01 january 2014

  iFrS 13:  Fair Value measurement new standard providing guidance on fair value measurement 
    and disclosure requirement. 01 january 2013

  iaS 1:  presentation of Financial Statements amendment: Clarification of the comparative information 
    requirements. 01 january 2013

 iaS 16:  property, plant and equipment amendment: Spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing 
   equipment are recognised as property, plant and equipment 
   when they meet the definition thereof. 01 january 2013

 iaS 19:  employee Benefits amendments: 01 january 2013
   i.  Change in definition of short-term employee benefits; 
   ii.  recognition and measurement of termination benefits. 

 iaS 27:  Separate Financial Statements Consequential amendments resulting from the issue of
    iFrS 10, 11 and 12. Consolidation requirements now 
   contained in iFrS 10. 01 january 2013

 iaS 32:  Financial instruments: presentation amendment: income tax relating to distributions to equity 
   holders and transaction costs of equity transactions are accounted 
   for in accordance with iaS 12. 01 january 2013

   amendment: explanation of “currently has a legally enforceable 
   right to set off”; and requirement to disclose gross amounts subject 
   to set - off rights and the related net credit exposure. 01 january 2013

 the directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company. 

2. OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 management has determined the operating segments based on the historical contribution towards revenue. 

 at 28 February 2013, the Group was organised on a worldwide basis into two main business segments: 

 – Lubricants: the manufacture of specialised industrial and consumer lubricants

 –  metal powders: the manufacture of various types and grades of metal powders

 Other operations of the Group mainly comprise the distribution of manufactured goods to consumers in overseas markets and dormant companies, 
neither of which are of a sufficient size to be reported separately. 

 Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant, equipment, intangible assets, inventory, receivables and operating cash and exclude taxation 
assets. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (note 3).  
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notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013

  Special      
  lubricants and Metal  Reconciling 
  allied chemicals powders Other items  Total
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 2013  
 Segment Sales  103,404   11,249   3,011   (6,619)  111,045 
      external foreign customers  13,780  4,636   3,011   (3,149)  18,278 
      external local customers  89,925   6,312   –   (3,470)  92,767 

      inter segment sales (301) 301  –   –  –
 Segment result  4,105  17  (1,192)  4,512   7,442 

 Finance costs – net      (1,437)

 profit before tax      6,005
 Segment assets 50,312  9,951   24,790  (13,078)  71,975 
 Segment liabilities  21,602  1,702   18,329   (11,518)  30,115
 Other segment items  

      Capital expenditure  1,449 28 59  –   1,536
      depreciation  1,953  283 60 364  2,660

 2012  

 Segment Sales  102,912   14,346   4,620   (9,241)  112,637 
      external foreign customers  6,844   6,603   4,620   (1,848)  16,219 

      external local customers  96,368   7,443   –   (7,393)  96,418 

      inter segment sales (300) 300  –   –  –
   Segment result  4,253   1,097  (524)  3,974   8,800 

   Finance costs – net      (1,415)
   profit before tax      7,385
 Segment assets  52,004   9,641   26,619   (11,970)  76,294
 Segment liabilities  25,437   2,347   18,856   (11,151)  35,489
 Other segment items  

      Capital expenditure  1,314  59 160  –   1,533
      depreciation  1,750  226 60 391  2,427

 revenue from large customers in the 2013 financial year ( customers contributing > r10 million to segment sales) comprises r11.3 million from one 
customer in the Special lubricants and allied chemicals division.  

 Foreign segment non-current assets are immaterial and therefore are not disclosed separately in the segment report.  
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
  Freehold   Office 
  land and Plant and Motor  furniture and 
  buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 Group  

 At 1 March 2011  

 revaluation/cost  23,416   15,018   1,686   4,491   44,611 

 accumulated depreciation (406)  (3,577) (558)  (3,198)  (7,739)
 Closing net book amount  23,010   11,441   1,128   1,293   36,872

 29 February 2012  
 Opening net book amount  23,010   11,441   1,128   1,293   36,872 
 additions 196 737  –  600  1,533 

 depreciation charge (444)  (1,281) (251) (451)  (2,427)
 Closing net book amount  22,762   10,897  877  1,442   35,978

 At 29 February 2012  
 revaluation/cost  23,612   15,755   1,686   5,091   46,144 
 accumulated depreciation (850)  (4,858) (809)  (3,649)  (10,166)
 net book amount  22,762   10,897  877  1 ,442   35,978

 28 February 2013  
 Opening net book amount  22,762   10,897  877  1,442   35,978 

 additions 79 764 491 202  1,536 
 disposals  –  (102) (70) (9) (181)
 revaluations  (1,321) 885  –   –  (436)
 depreciation charge (374) (1,590) (247) (449)  (2,660)
 Closing net book amount  21,146   10,854   1,051   1,186   34,237

 At 28 February 2013  
 revaluation / Cost  22,370   17,302   2,107   5,284   47,063 
 accumulated depreciation  (1,224)  (6,448)  (1,056)  (4,098)  (12,826)
 net book amount  21,146   10,854   1,051   1,186   34,237

 the Group’s land and buildings comprise erf 116, Wynberg, Sandton, with a factory, a warehouse and offices erected thereon, erf 473, Wynberg, 
Sandton, with a warehouse erected thereon and erf 547, alrode extension 7, with a factory and offices erected thereon. the Group’s land and buildings 
were revalued on the 28th February 2013 by mills Fitchet (tVL) cc (independent valuators) using the income approach to valuation method, which 
is based on the capitalisation of the net annual income the property can generate at a market related rate.  the Wynberg and alrode properties were 
valued at r15,000,000 and r3,300,000 respectively. erf 116 and erf 473, Wynberg, Sandton were valued as one property due to the fact that the two 
stands were to be consolidated into erf 547, Wynberg, Sandton.

 the Group has taken the approach to value land and buildings every two years.

 plant and equipment in the subsidiary, Coppermet proprietary Limited, was revalued on 31 may 2012 by Colyer Valuations (independent valuators) 
using the open market value approach to valuation method and was revalued by r884,882 (2012: rniL).

  the balance of plant and equipment are assessed by management on a yearly basis to determine the fair value in accordance with business knowledge 
and previous experience.  

 the revaluation will be recorded once there is a material difference.  

 mortgage Bonds are secured by properties to the value of r6,342,031 (2012: r7, 513,031) (note 15).

notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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 3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

 during the current financial year plant and equipment with a cost of r276,332 and accumulated depreciation of r174,352 were disposed of in the 
normal course of business. there were no disposals in the 2012 financial year.

 during the current financial year motor vehicles with a cost of r230,603 and accumulated depreciation of r160,965 were sold in the normal course of 
business. there were no disposals in the 2012 financial year.

 during the current financial year office furniture and equipment with a cost of r23,357 and accumulated depreciation of r14,615 were disposed of in 
the normal course of business. there were no disposals in the 2012 financial year.     

 Group assets encumbered by instalment sale agreements with a book value of r4,850,490 (2012: r5,080,010), are set out below:  

  Group Group

  2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 plant and equipment  3,783   4,136 

 motor vehicles 941 723

 Office furniture and equipment    126 221

      4,850   5,080

 additions include r829,083 (2012: r619,687) assets leased under finance leases where the Company is the lessee:  

  Group Group

  2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 plant and equipment 366 439

 motor vehicles 463  –  

 Office furniture and quipment    –  181

     829  620

 if property, plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:  

  Group Group

  2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 Cost  19,067   17,712 

 accumulated depreciation     (9,025)  (6,365)

 Closing carrying value     10,042   11,347
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
     Office 
   Plant and Motor  furniture and 
   equipment vehicles equipment Total
   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 Company  

 At 1 March 2011  
 revaluation / cost   12,415   1,540   2,951   16,906 

 accumulated depreciation   (2,913) (429)  (1,233)  (4,575)
 Closing net book amount   9,502   1,111   1,718   12,331

 29 February 2012  
 Opening net book amount   9,502   1,111   1,718   12,331 
 additions  719  –  595  1,314 
 depreciation charge   (1,170) (229) (352)  (1,751)
 Closing net book amount   9,051  882  1,961   11,894

 At 29 February 2012  
 revaluation / cost   13,134   1,540   3,546   18,220 
 accumulated depreciation   (4,083) (658)  (1,585)  (6,326)
 net book amount   9,051  882  1,961   11,894

 28 February 2013  
 Opening net book amount   9,051  882  1,961   11,894 

 additions  754 493 202  1,449 
 disposals   –  (70) (9) (79)
 depreciation charge  (1,267) (247) (439)  (1,953)
 Closing net book amount   8,538   1,058   1,715   11,311

 At 28 February 2013  
 revaluation / cost   13,888   1,963   3,739   19,590 

 accumulated depreciation   (5,350) (905)  (2,024)  (8,279)
 net book amount   8,538   1,058   1,715   11,311
    

 during the current financial year motor vehicles with a cost of r230,603 and accumulated depreciation of r160,965 were sold. there were no disposals 
in the 2012 financial year.

 during the current financial year office furniture and equipment with a cost of r23,357 and accumulated depreciation of r14,615 were disposed of in 
the normal course of business. there were no disposals in the 2012 financial year.  
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 Company assets encumbered by instalment sale agreements with a book value of r4,850,490 (2012: r5,080,010), are set out below:  

      Company 
     2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 plant and equipment     3,783   4,136 

 motor vehicles    941 723

 Office furniture and quipment    126 221

      4,850   5,080

 

 additions include r829,083 (2012: r619,987) assets leased under finance leases where the Company is the lessee. 

      Company 
     2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 plant and equipment    366 439

 motor vehicles    463  –  

 Office furniture and quipment    - 181

     829 620

 

 if property, plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the amounts would have been as follows:

      Company 
     2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 Cost     12,668   11,298 

 accumulated depreciation     (8,907)  (6,954)

 Closing carrying value     3 761  4,344

      Group
     2013 2012

4. GOODWILL    R’000 r’000

 Goodwill arising on purchase of business     437 437

 Opening carrying value    437 437

 additions    –   –  

 impairment     –   –  

 Closing carrying value    437 437

 the goodwill relates to the acquisition of Spanjaard eU BV. there was no movement on this balance during the year (2012 : r nil).  

 the recoverable amount has been determined on the value in use basis. For impairment testing goodwill is allocated to Spanjaard eU BV, as Spanjaard 
eU BV represent the lowest cash generating unit. Spanjaard eU BV forms an integral part of the operating activities in europe and management 
believes that there are future growth prospects and Spanjaard eU BV contributed r 2,953,879 towards the turnover of the Group which reflects a 2,7% 
contribution. management is therefore of the opinion that goodwill is not impaired.  

 the value in use of Spanjaard eU BV was determined through management assessments of the business and are based on both external and internal 
sources.

 a sensitivity analysis did not result in any material impact on the valuation of the goodwill.  
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5. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES    

      Company 
     2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 investments in unlisted subsidiaries are made up as follows:  

 Shares at cost     228 228

 the directors’ valuation of investments in unlisted subsidiaries exceed cost. the directors valued the investments on a net asset value basis of 
r14.9 million and consider the valuation reasonable in the prevailing market conditions and due to relationship between the entities.   
 

 the following information relates to the Group’s financial interest in its subsidiaries.   

       

   Issued   Shares Shares
  Country share % Interest  at cost  at cost
  of incorporation capital held 2013 2012
      R’000 R’000

         
 Bronzmet proprietary Limited 1 South africa  r100 100 -3 -3

 Coppermet proprietary Limited South africa r10,100 100 -3 -3

 Slip products (S.a.) proprietary Limited South africa r200  100 -3 -3

 torpedo investments proprietary Limited South africa r2  100 -3 -3

 Spanjaard UK Limited United Kingdom   GBp 24,181   100 228  228

 Spanjaard eU BV the netherlands   eUr 22,689   100 -3  -3

 molyslip Zimbabwe (private) Limited 2 Zimbabwe   US$ 500   100 -3  -3

 Spanjaard manufacturing (proprietary) Limited 4 australia   aUS$ 10,000   100 -3  -3

       228  228

 1 indirectly held via Coppermet proprietary Limited   

 2 indirectly held via Spanjaard UK Limited   

 3 Shareholding less than r 1,000 is not reflected.   

 4 indirectly held by Spanjaard eU BV.
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS   
 Trademarks   

   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 Opening net book amount  7 5  –   – 

 additions   –  3 –   – 

 amortisation  (1) (1) –  –   

 Closing net book amount  6 7 –   –

 Cost  8 8 –  – 

 accumulated amortisation  (2) (1) –   – 

 net book amount  6 7 –  –

7. INVENTORIES
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 

 raw materials (at cost)   7,706   7,662   7,064   6,668 

 Finished goods (at cost)   7,312   4,386   6,402   3,927 

 Finished goods (at net realisable value)   15,018   12,048   13,466   10,595

 during the financial year, no inventory was considered obsolete, subsequently no inventory was written off or impaired.  

   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 
 trade receivables  13,179  18,985   11,829   15,295 

 prepayments   1,203  803  1,203  803

 Other  369 235 164  -

    14,751  20,023  13,196  16,098

 Credit quality of trade and other receivables  

 the average credit period on sales is 30 days for local customers and 180 days for foreign customers. a letter of credit is obtained in order to receive 
payment earlier and additional charges are recognised on the balance for the period. no interest is charged on trade receivables. Before accepting a 
new customer, the application has to be approved by the managing director and sales department and credit limits are reviewed at the request of the 
Group. Before any customer is allowed to buy on credit they have to be approved with a bank code (credit limits smaller than r 25,000) or by Credit 
Guarantee ( credit limits greater than r25,000). no customer is allowed to buy on credit if the account is in arrears or if the order is greater than approved 
credit limit. if a customer should default on payment the Spanjaard Group will be paid out 80% of the outstanding balance. the concentration of credit 
risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.  

 the credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the agreement with Credit 
Guarantee and the agreement relating to the recovery of outstanding receivables and is determined to be good.  

 Fair value of trade and other receivables  

 the carrying amount of the trade receivables approximates its fair value due to the short-term nature of the balances at year end.  



42

notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013

 Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired  
 the ageing of amounts past due but not impaired are as follows:  

   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 – 31 to 60 days  2,764  2,380  2,559  1,876 

 – 61 to 90 days  557 353 182 341

  – over 90 days  167 606 168 187

Currencies  

 the carrying amount of trade and other receivables for the Group and the Company are denominated in US dollars ($) r1,0m (r0.8m), euro (€) r0,1m 
(rnil)  and South african rand (Zar) r11,9m (r12.2m).

 Trade and other receivables impaired  

 no allowance is made for the impairment of receivables as at 28 February 2013 (29 February 2012: r nil). trade receivables are assessed for impairment 
on an individual customer level.

9. AMOUNT DUE BY SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED COMPANIES   

   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 Subsidiaries  

 Bronzmet proprietary Limited  –    –   95 75

 Slip products (South africa) proprietary Limited  –    –   194 163

 Spanjaard eU BV  –    –   808 41

 torpedo investments proprietary Limited  –    –    6,348   5,246 

   –   –    7,445   5,525

 Related companies  

 Outsourced merchandising and Sales proprietary Limited  73 73 25 18

   73 73 25 18

 amounts due by subsidiaries and related companies – current  73 73 7,470  5,543 

 Outsourced merchandising and Sales proprietary Limited is a subsidiary of the ultimate holding company, Spanjaard Group Limited. the amount due 
arises from operational transactions during prior years.

 the loans granted to the fellow subsidiaries and to the related companies are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

 all amounts owing by related companies are considered recoverable and are therefore not impaired. the carrying value approximates fair value due to 
the expected short term nature.

10. AMOUNT DUE BY HOLDING COMPANY
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000 
 Spanjaard Group Limited   3,861   6,250   3,883   6,263

 the loan to the Company’s holding company is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.  

 the amount owing by the holding company is considered recoverable and is therefore not impaired. the carrying value approximates fair value due to 
the expected short term nature.  
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11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 Cash at bank   3,313   1,473  666  1,380 

 Cash on hand  5 5 3 3

   3,318   1,478  669  1,383

 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the cash and cash  equivalents 
 comprise the following:  

 Cash and bank balances   3,318   1,478  669  1,383

 the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short term nature of cash and cash equivalents.  

   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

12. ORDINARY SHARES  
 Authorised  

 15 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 cents each  750 750 750 750

 number of shares in issue throughout the year:  8,143 8,143 8,143 8,143

 Issued  

 8 142 850 ordinary shares of 5 cents each  407 407 407 407

 Share premium   6,464   6,464   6,464   6,464 

    6,871   6,871   6,871   6,871

 the un-issued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors. the authority remains in force until the next annual General meeting.  

 Capital Management policy  

 the Group’s objectives when managing capital which comprises share equity and cash reserves amounting to r10.2 million (2012: r8.3 million) are:  

 – to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders; and  

 – to provide a positive return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.  

 the Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in the current economic conditions and the risk of 
characteristics of the underlying assets through dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce 
debt.  

 there have been no changes in the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital from the prior year.  

 the Group believes it has met the objectives of its capital management policy as the Group believes it has the resources to continue trading as a going 
concern in the forseeable future and also due to the regular dividend payouts to its shareholders.  

13. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE  
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 the translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation 
 of the foreign subsidiaries (Spanjaard eU BV and Spanjaard UK Ltd):  

 Opening balance  (93) (207) –    – 

 movement for the year  (508) 114 –    –  

 Closing balance  (601) (93) –    –  
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14 REVALUATION RESERVE  Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000
 Opening balance   9,630   10,350   2,812   3,401 
 depreciation transfer  (898) (720) (589) (589)
 Current year revaluation (note 3)   (436)  –  –   – 
    8,296  9,630   2,223   2,812

 the revaluation reserve that relates to property, plant and equipment  is released to equity in accordance with the depreciation charge annually.  

15. BORROWINGS  Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000
 Current  
 Finance lease liabilities   1,433   1,569   1,433   1,876 
 mortgage bond   1,778   1,786   –    –  
    3,211  3,355   1,433   1,876
 Non-current  
 Finance lease liabilities   1,309   1,876   1,309   1,569 
 mortgage bond   4,564   5,727  –    –  
    5,873   7,603   1,309   1,569
 Total borrowings   9,084   10,958   2,742   3,445

 Finance lease liabilities  

 instalment sale agreements covers certain Group items such as plant and 
 machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment, having a net book value of 
 r4,850,490 (2012: r5,080,010), Company r4,850,490 (2012: r5,080,010).  2,742   3,445   2,742   3,445 

 agreements bear interest from 1.5% to 3.5% below the prime overdraft rate, 
 the current weighted average rate being 8% (2012: 8%). repayments are 
 made on a monthly basis and the remaining repayment periods on these 
 agreements vary from 1 to 60 months.
 Less: Current portion   (1,433)  (1,569)  (1,433)  (1,876)
     1,309   1,876   1,309   1,569
 the present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:  
      not later than 1 year   1,433   1,569   1,433    1,569 
       Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   1,309   1,876   1,309   1,876
    2,742   3,445   2,742   3,445
 Finance lease liabilities – minimum lease payment  
      not later than 1 year   1,476   1,620   1,476   1,620 
      Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   5,904   6,480   5,904   6,480 
    7,380   8,100   7,380   8,100 
 Future finance charges on finance leases   (4,638)  (4,655)  (4,638)  (4,655)
    2,742   3,445   2,742   3,445
 the contractual payments per month on the above finance leases are:  123 135 123 135

 First mortgage bond secured over land and buildings, erf 547 Wynberg, Sandton bearing interest at participation bond rates, the current rate being 
9.0% (2012: 9%). the bond is repayable in 52 monthly instalments of r142,781. 

      6,134   6,613 
 Less: Current portion     (1,713)  (1,092)
      4,421   5,521 
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      Group 

     2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 Mortgage bonds  

 First mortgage bond secured over land and buildings, erf 547 alrode extension 7, bearing interest at the prime 
 overdraft rate, the current rate being 10.0% (2012: 10%). the balance of the bond is repayable in 36 remaining 
 monthly instalments. Current repayments are r5,379 per month.  

     208 254

 Less : Current portion    (65) (48)

     143 206

 total non-current portion of mortgage bond     4,564   5,727

 Maturity of Mortgage bond  

 the remaining term and notional principle amount of the outstanding interest  borrowing are as follows:  

 Less than 1 year    1,778  1,140 

 2 to 5 years    4,564 4,560 

 more than 5 years     –   1,561

     6,342  7,261

 the mortgage bonds are secured over certain of the land and buildings of the Group.  

 Borrowing facilities  
 the Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:  

 Bank overdraft – prime rate     8,200   7,000

 the carrying amounts of borrowings approximate fair value as the borrowings are based on the prime interest rate.  

 the Group’s borrowing powers are unlimited in terms of its memorandum of incorporation.  

16. DEFERRED TAX

 deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the Balance sheet method using a principal tax rate of 28% (2012: 28%). 
the movement on the net deferred income tax account is as follows:

   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 deferred tax liability   (5,024)  (3,914)  (1,293) (701)

 net deferred tax at end of year   (5,024)  (3,914)  (1,293) (701)

 net deferred tax at beginning of year   (3,914)  (3,512) (701) (658)

 deferred tax expense (income) charge / credited to income   (1,185) (402) (592) (43)

 deferred tax income debited to other comprehensive income  247  –  –  – 

 deferred tax movement of revaluation  (172)
    (5,024)  (3,914)  (1,293)  (701)

 deferred tax liability comprises:  

     property, plant and equipment   (1,132) (254)  (1,463)  (1,427)

     prepaid expenses  (337) (225) (337) (225)

     deferred tax on revaluation reserve   (4,239)  (4,475) –  – 

     Other provisions  684  1,135  507 951

     prior period error   – (95) –  -

    (5,024)  (3,914)  (1,293) (701)

notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 trade payables   11,351  12,335   10,510  9,840 

 accrued expenses   1,991   3,619   1,745   3,619 

 audit fee accrual  624 420 502 297

 Vat payable  509 509 485 558

 Other payables  677 860 592 701

    15,152  17,743   13,834   15,015

 trade and other payables are settled net 60 days, exceptions are paid on an ad hoc basis. the carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate 
fair value due to their short-term nature.  

18. LOANS FROM GROUP COMPANIES  
       Company 
     2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 Current liabilities  
 Coppermet proprietary Limited      (2,551) (3,094)

 Spanjaard UK Limited       (283) (289)

       (2,834) (3,383)

 the loans granted by the subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.the carrying value approximate the fair value 
due to the short term nature.

19. COMMITMENTS
 Operating lease as lessee  Group   Company 
  Notes 2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 minimum lease payments due  

  – within one year  82 85 64 42

  – in second to fifth year inclusive  328 340 256 168

   410 425 320 210

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office equipment. Leases are negotiated over an average term of five 
years and rentals are fixed for the period of the lease.
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20. REVENUE
   Group   Company 
  Notes 2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

  
 turnover from the sale of goods  111,045 112,637 103,404 98,587

 Other income received  1,168 316 1,152 957

   112,213 112,953 104,556 99,544

21. PROFIT BEFORE TAX  

 the following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:  

 depreciation note 3  2,660   2,427   1,953   1,751 

 employment costs  note 22 20,482  23,311  19,688  22,243 

 auditor’s remuneration note 23 638 420 502 297

 Foreign exchange loss / (profit)  (651) 58  –   – 

 raw materials used   68,403   69,620   65,741   62,656 

 Operating lease expenditure  82 37 64 37

 total cost of goods sold, marketing and  
 distribution cost and administrative expenses   104,768   95,873   98,134   86,984

 profit / (Loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (51)  –  53  -

22. EMPLOYMENT COSTS  
 Short-term employee benefits  18,772 22,169 18,031 21,171

 Salaries and wages  18,398  21,768 17,669 20,790

      Statutory contributions  374 401 362 381

 post employment benefits  1,710  1,142  1,657  1,072 

      provident fund – defined contribution plans  1,394 875 1,341 805

      directors’ retirement benefits  316 267 316 267

    20,482  23,311   19,688  22,243

 directors’ emoluments   7,978   8,212   7,978   8,212 

 Short-term employee benefits   7,662   7,945   7,662   7,945 

 post employment benefits  316 267 316 267

 it is compulsory for all employees to be a member of the Liberty Life provident fund which is governed by the pensions Fund act of South africa.
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23. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 Fees  638 420 502 297

   638 420 502 297

 

24(a).FINANCE COSTS  

 Bank overdraft   294  290 294 290

 Hire purchase  300 350 300 350

 Bond  674 733 – –
 Other  172 63 164 23

    1,440   1,436  758 663

 

24(b).FINANCE INCOME  

   3 21 3 7

 Bank  3 21 3 7

25. INCOME TAX EXPENSE  
 South african normal tax  

      Current tax – current   1,032   2,362  967  1,977 

      deferred tax – current   938 129 592 43

      Secondary tax on companies   –  228  –  228

      Foreign tax   –  23  –   – 

      prior period correction   –  305  –   -

 tax charge  1,970  3,047   1,559   2,248 

 the Group has a calculated tax loss available of r2,207,803 (2012: r1,506,385) 

 which is not currently being utilised as the individual companies they relate to 

 are not expected to show profit in the foreseeable future.  

 the tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical 

 amount that would arise using the South african tax rate as follows:         %         %         %          %   

 South african normal tax rate  28 28 28 28

 adjustments for :  

      expenses not deductible for tax purposes   2   –  –  1

      Secondary tax on companies   –  3   –  4

      Underprovision of tax – prior year   –  4   –  2

      assessed loss not utilised  3 6  –   – 

   net increase  5 13  –  7

 effective tax rate  33 41 28 35
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26. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE  
 Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares in issue during the year. the Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.  

      Group 
     2013 2012

     R’000 r’000

 profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (r’000)    4,035  4,338 

 actual and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000s)     8,143   8,143 

 Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)    49,6 53,3

 the calculation of headline earnings per share is based on earnings as calculated below and a weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of 
8,142,850 (2012: 8,142,850).  

    2013   2012  
   Gross Income tax Net Gross Income tax Net
    effect   effect
 net profit attributable to shareholders (r’000)  4,035   –  4,035  4,338   –   4,338 

 adjustments for:  

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (r’000) 51 (14) 37  –   –   -

 Headline earnings (r’000)  4,086 (14) 4,072  4,338   –   4,338

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000’s)    8,143     8,143 

 Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (cents)   50,0   53,3

27. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 profit before tax   6,005   7,385   5,664   6,501 

 Adjustments for:  

  – depreciation   2,660   2,427   1,953   1,751 

  – Finance costs   1,440   1,436  758 663

  – Finance income  (3) (21) (3) (7)

  – (profit) / Loss on foreign exchange  (499) 58 –   – 

  – (profit) / Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  51  –  (53)  – 

  – provisions  – 315 – 514

 –  movement in non-cash flow accruals  (675)  1,408
 Changes in working capital:  

  – inventories   (2,970)  (2,366)  (2,871)  (1,659)

  – trade and other receivables   5,657   (6,114)  3,125   (3,517)

  – trade and other payables   (2,812)  4,021   (3,446)  2,676

 Cash generated from operations   8,854   7,141   6,535   6,922
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28. INCOME TAX PAID 
   Group   Company 
   2013 2012 2013 2012

   R’000 r’000 R’000 r’000

 Opening balance  (684)  (1,195) (747)  (1,574)

 Charge per profit and loss  

 excluding movement in deferred tax   (1,032)  (2,564) (967)  (2,204)

 Closing balance  (274) 684 29 747

 tax paid   (1,990)  (3,075)  (1,685)  (3,031)

29. DIVIDEND PAID   
 Opening balance – Shareholders for dividend   (1,514)  (1,338)  (1,514)  (1,338)

 declaration for the year   (2,036)  (2,280)  (2,036)  (2,280)

 Closing balance – Shareholders for dividends  855  1,514  855  1,514   

 dividend paid   (2,695)  (2,104)  (2,695)  (2,104)

30. RELATED PARTIES  
 all transaction prices with related parties are in the normal course of business at arms length.  

 Relationships:  

 Holding company Spanjaard Group Limited  

 Subsidiaries Spanjaard UK Limited  

  Spanjaard eU BV  

  Coppermet proprietary Limited  

  Bronzmet proprietary Limited  

  molyslip Zimbabwe (pvt) Ltd  

  Slip products (South africa) proprietary Limited  

  torpedo investments proprietary Limited  

  Spanjaard manufacturing proprietary Limited 

 Fellow subsidiaries Outsourced merchandising and Sales proprietary Limited  

  Spandor two proprietary Limited  

     2013 2012

 Related party balances    R’000 r’000

 Amount owing by the parent  

 refer to note 10 for the terms of the loan.    3,883  6 ,263 

 Amounts owing (to) / by fellow subsidiaries  

 Loans – refer to note 9 for the terms of the loan    7,470  5,543

 Transactions with fellow subsidiaries  

 management fees received    840 840

 rent paid on buildings     2,040   2,040 

 Sales    6,563   4,617 

 Cost of sales    4 ,407   3,310

 Transactions with close family members of key management personnel  

 Consulting fees paid    552 315 
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
 Financial risk factors
 the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity risk. the 

Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the financial performance of the Group through mitigating risk. this is managed at Group and Company level by the Board of directors.

 there has been no change to the policies and procedures for managing risk from the prior year.  

 (i)  Credit risk  

  Credit risk relates mainly to cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors at year end amounting to r 16,269,026 ( 2012: r 20,462,713). the 
Group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.  

  trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Customers are independently rated by Credit Guarantee and these ratings are used as 
explained in note 8. individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set.

  the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, due to its wide spread of customers. the Group has policies in place to ensure that sales 
of products are made to customers with an appropriate credit history and that partially guarantee the recoverability of trade receivables.  

 (ii)  Foreign exchange risk  
the Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to 
the US dollar, the euro and the UK pound. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and 
net investments in foreign operations. to manage their foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets 
and liabilities, entities in the Group use derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce certain exposures. 
although the Group hedges its foreign currency transactions, this does not qualify as hedging in terms of iFrS. there were no foreign exchange 
contracts open at year end. the year end rate of r/€ in 2013 was 11.5666 (2012: 10.118). the average rate of r/€  in 2013 was 10.7806 (2012: 10.1951). 
the year end rate of r/£ in 2013 was 13.3715 (2012: 11.940). the average rate of r/£ in 2013 was 13.2601 (2012: 11.7601). the year end rate of r/$ 
in 2013 was 8.8398 (2012: 7.534). the average rate of r/US$ in 2013 was 8.357 (2012: 7.3643). the Group reviews its foreign currency exposure on 
an ongoing basis.

  Foreign currency exposure at reporting date   2013  2012
  Group   ‘000  ‘000
  
  Unhedged current assets   
  accounts receivable   $122   $295 
  Carrying value in rands   R 1,078  r 2,169
  accounts receivable   €17  – 
  Carrying value in rands   R 197  –
  
  Unhedged current liabilities   
  accounts payable   €6  € 123 
  Carrying value in rands   R69  r 1,254
  
  accounts payable   –  £55
  Carrying value in rands   –   r651 
  
  accounts payable   $93  $423 
  Carrying value in rands   R822  r 3,116

  Company     
  
  Unhedged current assets  
  accounts receivable   € 2  € 123
  Carrying value in rands   R23  r 1,258

  accounts receivable   $96  $194 
  Carrying value in rands   R 849  r 1,428

  Unhedged current liabilities  
  accounts payable   $93  $259 
  Carrying value in rands   R822  r 1,904

  Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:  
  United States dollar   8,840  7,534
  Great British pound   13,372  11,940
  euro   11,567  10,118

notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
  Sensitivity Analysis  
  the table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the 

Group’s profit before tax due to changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts and foreign accounts payable and receivable.  

     2013  2012

     R’000  r’000

  dollar Fluctuation

  +5%   34  43

  –5%   (34)  (43)

  euro Fluctuation 

  +5%   26  63

  –5%   (26)  (63)

  pound Fluctuation 

  +5%   22  28

  –5%   (22)  (28)

 (iii)  Interest rate risk

  the group is exposed to interest rates through its borrowings (note 15) and cash and cash equivalents (note 11). 

  Sensitivity Analysis
  the table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s 

profit before tax through the impact on variable rate borrowings.  

     2013  2012

     R’000  r’000

  interest rate fluctuation 

  +5%   454  548

  –5%   (454)  (548)

 (iv)  Liquidity risk  

  prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  
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notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2013

the table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to 
the contractual maturity date.       
       
       
Group  

   Weighted Less than Between Over  
  At 28 February 2013 percentage 1 year 1 and 5 years 5 years Total
  Liabilities  

  instalment sales agreements 8,00% 1,795  5,904   –    7,380 

  mortgage bonds 9,00% 1,775  4 566  – 6,342 

  trade and other payables  –    11,351   –     –    11,351 

    14,921 10,470 – 25,073 

  At 29 February 2012  

  Liabilities     

  instalment sales agreements 8,00% 1,620  6,480   –    8,100 

  mortgage bonds 9,00% 1,140  4,560  1,561 7,261 

  trade and other payables             –  12,335   –     –    12,335 

    15,095  11,040 1,561 27,696

  Company  

   Weighted Less than Between Over  
  At 28 February 2013 percentage 1 year 1 and 5 years 5 years Total
  Liabilities  

  instalment sales agreements 8,00% 1,476  5,904   –    7,380
  trade and other payables             –  10,510  –     –    10,510
    –    11,986 5,904  – 17,890 
  At 29 February 2012  

  Liabilities  

  instalment sales agreements 8,00% 1,620  6,480   –    8,100
  trade and other payables             –  9,840   –     –    9,840
    11,460  6,480   –    17,940 
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32. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  
   2013 2013 2012 2012
   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
     Carrying amount   Fair value   Carrying amount   Fair value 

 Group  

 Financial assets  

 trade receivables  13,179 13,179 18,985 18,985

 Cash and cash equivalents  3,318 3,318 1,478 1,478

 amount due by related company  73 73 73 73

 amount due by holding company  3,861 3,861 6,250 6,250

   20,431 20,431 26,786 26,786

 Financial liabilities  

 Borrowings  

  – non-current   5,873 5,873 7,603 7,603

  – Current  3,211 3,211 3,355 3,355

 trade and other payables  11,351 11,351 12,335 12,335

   20,435 20,435 23,293 23 ,293

 Company  

 Financial assets  

 trade receivables  11,829 11,829 15,295 15,295

 Cash and cash equivalents  669 669 1,383 1,383

 amount due by related company  7,470 7,470 5,543 5,543

 amount due by holding company  3,883 3,883 6,263 6,263

   23,851 23,851 28,484 28,484

 Financial liabilities  

 Borrowings  

  – non-current   1,309 1,309 1,569 1,569

  – Current  1,433 1,433 1,876 1,876

 amount due by related company  2,834 2,834 3,383 3,383

 trade and other payables  10,510 10,510 9,840 9,840

   16,086 16,086 16,668 16,668

 Estimation of fair values  

 the carrying amounts of short-term instruments are a reasonable estimate of the fair values because of the short maturity of such instruments. the 
carrying amounts of long-term borrowings are a reasonable estimate of fair value as the borrowings are based on floating market rates. the long-term 
borrowings are amortised over their defined term and have been split into their long- and short-term portions based on the capital repayments as 
calculated using the effective interest rate.  
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 the following information has been extracted from the register of shareholders at 28 February 2013: 

  Number of % of total Number of % of total 
   share- share- shares held shares 
   holders holders ‘000 issued 

 Share categories:  
 public  

 1  –  5,000 shares  331 85,75 127 1,56

 5,001  –  10,000 shares  18 4,66 111 1,36

 10,001  –  50,000 shares  22 5,70 408 5,01

 50,001  –  100,000 shares  6 1,55 378 4,64

 100,001  –  and over   9 2,33  7,119  87,42

      

   386 100,00  8,143  100,00

 Group categories:  

 public Company  4 1,04  4,570  56,12

 individuals  258 66,84  3,330  40,89

 nominees and trusts  6 1,55 103 1,26

 private Companies  64 16,58 101 1,24

 Close Corporations  54 13,99 39 0,48

   386 100,00  8,143  100,00

 Shareholding in the Company  

 Share type:  

 public  379 98,19  1,397  17,16

 non-public  

  – directors  6 1,55  2,347  28,82

  – Holding company  1 0,26  4,399  54,02

   386 100,00  8,143  100,00

     Number of % of total
     shares held shares issued
     ‘000 %

 the following shareholders directly hold more than five percent of the issued share capital: 

 Group categories:  

 Spanjaard Group Limited    4,399 54,03

 r j W Spanjaard    681 8,36

 ms e nepgen    710 8,72

     5,790 71,11

analysis of  Shareholding
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notice of annual General meeting

SPANJAARD LIMITED  
(incorporated in the republic of South africa) 
(registration number: 1960/004393/06) 
jSe SHare COde: Spa                  iSin: Zae000006938 

A NOTICE OF MEETING  

 notice is hereby given that the 52nd annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company (‘the meeting”) will be held in the Captains room, the 
Wanderers Club, 21 north road, illovo, johannesburg, at  12h00 on Friday, 14 june 2013. 

B RECORD DATE, ATTENDANCE AND VOTING 

 the record date for determining which shareholders are entitled to notice of the meeting is monday, 13 may 2013 and the record date for determining 
which shareholders are entitled to participate in and vote at the meeting is Friday, 7 june 2013.  the last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at 
the meeting is accordingly Friday, 31 may 2013. 

 if you hold dematerialised shares which are registered in your name or if you are the registered holder of certified shares: 

 – you may attend the meeting in person;

 – alternatively, you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the meeting by completing the attached form of proxy in accordance with the 
instructions it contains and returning it to Computershare investor Services proprietary Limited, 70 marshall Street, johannesburg 2001 
(pO Box 61051, marshalltown 2107) (“transfer secretaries”) to be received no later than 48 (forty-eight) hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and 
public holidays) prior to the meeting.

 if you hold dematerialised shares which are not registered in your name: 

 –  and wish to attend the meeting, you must obtain the necessary letter of representation from your Central Securities depository participant 
(“CSdp”) or broker;

 –  and do not wish to attend the meeting but would like your vote to be recorded at the meeting, you should contact your CSdp or broker and furnish 
them with your voting instructions;

 –  you must not complete the attached form of proxy.

 a shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled, by completing the attached proxy form and delivering it to the Company in 
accordance with the instructions on that proxy form, to  appoint a proxy to attend, participate in and vote at the meeting in that shareholder’s place. a 
proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

 all meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) may be required to provide satisfactory identification to the chairman of the meeting.  
Forms of identification include valid identity documents, passports and driver’s licences.

C PURPOSE OF MEETING

 the purpose of this meeting is to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the resolutions set out below.

 ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – Approval of the annual financial statements

 to receive and adopt the annual financial statements of Spanjaard Limited for the year ended 28 February 2013.

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – Directors’ remuneration

 to confirm the directors’ remuneration as detailed in the directors’ emoluments note in the integrated report of the Company for the year ended 28 
February 2013.

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – Re-election of Directors

 to re-elect, by way of separate resolutions, r.j.W. Spanjaard, G.F. Cort and C.K.t. palmer as executive directors and B.L. montgomery as non-executive 
director of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the memorandum of incorporation of the Company.

 Brief CVs of above mentioned directors are included in the integrated annual report on page 21.

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 – Reappointment and remuneration of auditors

 to reappoint mazars as auditors and miles Fisher as the individual designated auditor of the Company until the following annual General meeting, and 
to authorise the directors to determine their  remuneration for the past year.

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 – Placing authorised but unissued share capital under the control of the Directors.

 resolved that the unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under the control of the directors until the 
next annual General meeting and that they are hereby authorised to issue any shares as they may deem fit in accordance with the provisions of the 
Company act, as amended, the memorandum of incorporation of the Company, and the Listing requirements of the johannesburg Stock exchange.
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 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6 – Appointment of the members of the Audit Committee

 to appoint the audit Committee members as required in terms of the Companies act and as recommended by King iii.

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7 – To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting

 all shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at the general meeting and to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote or abstain 
in their stead.  a proxy need not be a member of the Company. On a show of hands, every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one 
vote, and, on a poll, every member present or by proxy shall have one vote for each share held by him/her.

 Voting Rights

 in order for these ordinary resolutions number 1 to 7 to be adopted, the support of at least the simple majority (50% plus 1) of the total number of votes, 
which the shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. the quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five 
percent) of the issued share capital of the Company.

 SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

 the special resolutions set out below require the support of 75% of votes exercised by shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting in 
order to be adopted.

 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – Financial assistance to related or inter-related entities to the Company

 resolved that Board of directors is authorised, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 45 of the Companies act, to cause the Company to 
provide financial assistance to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to Spanjaard Limited

 Reason for and effect of this resolution

 Special resolution number 1 is required in terms of section 45 of the Companies act to grant the directors of the Company the authority to cause the 
Company to provide financial assistance to any entity which is related or inter-related to the Company, and it will have this effect. this special resolution 
does not authorise the provision of financial assistance to a director or prescribed officer of the Company.

 Voting rights

 in order for this special resolution number 1 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the total number of votes, which the 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. the quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) 
of the issued share capital of the Company.

  SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – Financial assistance for subscription for or purchase of securities by related or inter-related entities to the 
Company

 resolved that the Board of directors is authorised, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 44 of the Companies act, to cause the Company 
to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to Spanjaard Limited for the subscription for or purchase 
of securities in the Company or in any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company

 Reason for and effect of this resolution

 Special resolution number 2 is required in terms of section 44 of the Companies act to grant the directors of the Company the authority to cause the 
Company to provide financial assistance for the subscription for or purchase of securities to any entity which is related or inter-related to the Company, 
and it will have this effect. this special resolution does not authorise the provision of financial assistance to a director or prescribed officer of the 
Company.

 Voting rights

 in order for this special resolution number 2 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the total number of votes, which the 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. the quorum of the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) 
of the issued share capital of the Company.

 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – Approval of the remuneration of Directors for services as Directors for the following year

 resolved that the following remuneration of directors of the Company for their services as directors of the Company for the period from 1 march 2013 
to 28 February 2014 be and is hereby approved in accordance with sections 66(9) of the act:

 –  Chairman of the Board – nil

 –  members of the Board – r 405 000 per annum

 Reason for and effect of this resolution 

 Special resolution number 3 is required in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies act, in order that the Company may, if so authorised in terms of a 
special resolution, pay remuneration to its directors for their services as directors. the effect of this resolution is to approve the remuneration of the 
directors of the Company for their services as directors for the following year. 

 Voting rights 

 in order for this special resolution number 3 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the total number of votes, which the 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. the quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) 
of the issued share capital of the Company. 

notice of annual General meeting (continued)
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SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 - Introduction of Memorandum of Incorporation

“resolved that the existing memorandum and articles of association of the company, adopted in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
act, no. 61 of 1973, be and hereby are deleted in their entirety and substituted by a new memorandum of incorporation approved by the 
johannesburg Stock exchange (a copy of which has been tabled at this meeting and initialed by the Chairman of the meeting for purposes of 
identification) in accordance with the provisions of the Companies act, no. 71 of 2008 (“the mOi”) and with effect from the date of registration of the 
mOi by the Companies and intellectual property Commission.”

Reason for and effect of this resolution

Special resolution number 4 is required in terms of the Companies act, no. 71 of 2008, to replace the memorandum and articles of association with a 
memorandum of incorporation and it will have this effect.

Voting rights

 in order for this special resolution number 4 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the total number of votes, which the 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required.  the quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) 
of the issued share capital of the Company. 

D INTERPRETATION OF THIS NOTICE 

 in this notice of annual general meeting, all references to: 

 “Companies act” means the Companies act, no. 71 of 2008, as amended;

 “jSe Listing requirements” means the Listings requirements of the johannesburg Stock exchange, as amended from time to time;

 “mOi” means the memorandum of incorporation.

 By order of the board

 

 MS S.F. VENTER

 COMPANY SECRETARY

 johannesburg

 10 may 2013

Registered office
Spanjaard Limited
748 – 750 Fifth Street
Wynburg, Sandton 2090

Company Secretary
ms S.F. Venter
Spanjaard Limited
748 – 750 Fifth Street
Wynburg, Sandton 2090

Website: www.spanjaard.biz
e-mail: sales@spanjaard.biz

Share transfer secretaries  
Computershare investor Services proprietary Limited  
70 marshall Street
johannesburg 2001
p.O. Box 61051
marshalltown 2100

Directors  
r.j.W. Spanjaard (executive Chairman) 
ms e. nepgen (executive managing director) 
G.F. Cort (executive director) 
mrs S. Hari (independent non-executive director) 
B.L. montgomery (non-executive director) 
C.K.t. palmer (executive director) 
S.a. pretorius (executive director) 
prof d.p. Van der nest (Lead independent non-executive director)
H.j. Van Heerden (executive Financial director)

Sponsor  
arcay moela Sponsors proprietary Limited  
54 maxwell drive  
Woodmead 2054
p.O. Box 62397
marshalltown 2107 
   
Telephone: +27 11 485 5000  
Facsimile: +27 086 627 9056
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Form of proxy

SPANJAARD LIMITED  
(incorporated in the republic of South africa) 
(registration number: 1960/004393/06) 
jSe SHare COde: Spa                  iSin: Zae000006938

this form of proxy (“form”) is for use by certified shareholders and dematerialised shareholders whose shares are registered in their own names on monday, 
13, may 2013, being the record date for the meeting (see note 1). 
“this form relates to the annual general meeting of shareholders to be held in the Captain’s room, the Wanderers Club, 21 north road, illovo, johannesburg, 
at 12h00 on 14, june 2013 (“meeting”) (see note 2). 
For instructions on the use of this form and a summary of the rights of the shareholders and the proxy, please see the instructions and notes at the end of 
this form. 
i/We (full names)  

of (address) 

being a shareholder/s of the Company and being the registered owner/s of 

ordinary shares in the Company (see note 3), hereby appoint:  

1.  or failing him/her 

2.  or failing him/her 

the Chairman of the meeting (see note 4) as my/our proxy to attend, speak and on a poll to vote or abstain from voting on my/our behalf at the general 
meeting of the Company to be held in the Champions room, the Wanderers Club, 21 north road, illovo, johannesburg, at 12h00 on 14 june 2013 or at any 
adjournment thereof (see note 5).  
i/We desire my/our proxy to vote as follows:  
indicate with a cross how you wish your vote to be cast.  if you do not do so, the proxy may vote or abstain at his discretion (see note 6). 

Ordinary resolutions In favour of Against Abstain

1. approval of the annual financial statements 

2. approval of directors’ remuneration 

3. re-election of directors 

 3.1  to re-elect r.j.W. Spanjaard who retires in accordance with the

  memorandum of incorporation and offers himself for re-election.

 3.2  to re-elect G.F. Cort who retires in accordance with the memorandum

  of incorporation and offers himself for re-election.

 3.3  to re-elect C.K.t. palmer who retires in accordance with the

   memorandum of incorporation and offers himself for re-election.

 3.4  to re-elect B.L. montgomery who retires in accordance with the
  memorandum of incorporation and offers himself for re-election.

4. reappointment and remuneration of auditors

5. placing authorised but unissued share capital under the control of the directors

6. appointment of the members of the audit Committee

7. to transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual General meeting

Special resolutions 

1. Financial assistance to related and inter-related entities to the Company

2. Financial assistance for the subscription for or purchase of securities by related
 and inter-related entities to the Company

3. approval of the remuneration of non-executive directors for services as   
 directors for the following year   

4.  introduction of memorandum of incorporation

please see the notes on the reverse side hereof for further instructions.  

Signed this  day of  2013

Signature number of Shares 
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Form of proxy (continued)

INSTRUCTIONS AND NOTES TO PROXY FORM 
1. this form is for use by certified shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with “own-name” registration whose shares are registered in their 

own names on the record date and who wish  to appoint another person to represent them at the meeting. if duly authorised, companies and 
other corporate bodies which are shareholders having shares registered in their own names may  appoint a proxy using this form, or may appoint a 
representative in accordance with the last paragraph below.

 Other shareholders should not use this form. all beneficial holders who have dematerialised their shares through a central Securities depository 
participant (“CSdp”) or broker, and do not have  their shares registered in their own name, must provide the CSdp or broker with their voting 
instructions. alternatively, if they wish to attend the meeting in person, they should request the CSdp or broker to provide them with a letter of 
representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between the beneficial owner and the CSdp or broker.

2. this form will not be effective at the meeting unless received at Computershare investor Services proprietary Limited, 70 marshall Street, johannesburg 
2001, republic of South africa, not later than 12h00 on 12 june 2013.  if a shareholder does not wish to deliver this form to that address, it may also be 
posted at the risk of the shareholder to p.O. Box 61051, marshalltown, 2107.

3. this form shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name of shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number of shares is 
inserted. 

4. a shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting the name of such proxy in the space provided. any such proxy need not be a 
shareholder of the Company. if the name of the proxy  is not inserted, the chairman of the meeting will be appointed as proxy. if more than one name 
is inserted, then the person whose name appears first on this form and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of 
any persons whose names follow. the proxy appointed in this form may delegate the authority given to him in this proxy by delivering to the Company, 
in the manner required by these instructions, a further form which has been completed in a manner consistent with the authority given to the proxy 
of this form. 

5. Unless revoked, the appointment of a proxy in terms of this form remains valid until the end of the meeting even if the meeting or part thereof is 
postponed or adjourned. 

6. irrespective of the form of instrument used to accept a proxy

 6.1 a shareholder does not indicate on this form that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against or to abstain from voting on any resolution; or

 6.2 the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or

 6.3 any additional resolution/s are properly put before the meeting; or

 6.4 any resolutions listed in the proxy form is modified or amended

 the proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit, in relation to the resolution or matter.  if, however, the shareholder has 
provided further written instructions which accompany this form and which indicate how the proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of the 
circumstances referred to in 6.1 to 6.4, then the proxy shall comply with those instructions.

7. if this form is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, then this form will not 
be effective unless: 

 7.1 it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the shareholder to the signatory; or

 7.2 the Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.

8. the chairman of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject any form or other written appointment of a proxy which is received by the 
chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution or matter to which the appointment of the proxy relates, even if that appointment 
of a proxy has not been completed and/or received in accordance with these instructions. 

 However, the chairman shall not accept any such appointment of a proxy unless the chairman is satisfied that it reflects the intention of the shareholder 
appointing the proxy. 

9. any alternations made in this form must be initialled by the authorised signatory/ies. 

10. this form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy: 

 10.1 gives written notice of such revocation to the company, so that it is received by the company by not later than 09h00 12 june 2013; or

 10.2 appoints another proxy for the meeting; or

 10.3 attends the meeting himself in person.

11. all notices which a shareholder is entitled to receive in relation to the Company shall continue to be sent to that shareholder and shall not be sent to 
the proxy. 

12. a minor must be assisted by his/her guardian, unless proof of competency is sign has been recorded by the Company. 

13. if duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which are shareholders of the Company having shares registered in their own name may, a 
representative to represent them and exercise all of their rights at the meeting by giving written notice of the appointment of that representative. this 
notice will not be effective at the meeting  unless it is accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s or other authorities in terms of which 
that representative is appointed and is received at the Company’s transfer office,  Computershare investor Services proprietary Limited, 70 marshall 
Street, johannesburg, 2001, republic of South africa, not later than 09h00 on, 12 june 2013.
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SUMMARY OF RIGHTS ESTABLISHED BY SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, AS REQUIRED IN TERMS OF SUBSECTION 58(8)(B)(I)  
1. a shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a non-shareholder of the Company, as a proxy to participate in, speak and vote at 

a shareholders’ meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)(a)), or to give or withhold consent on behalf of the shareholder to a decision in terms of 
section 60 (shareholders acting other than at a meeting) (section 58(1)(b)).

2. a proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder, and remains valid for one year after the date on which it was signed or 
any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in terms of paragraph 6.3 or expires earlier in terms of paragraph 
10.4 below (section 58(2)).

3. a shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to 
different securities held by the shareholder (section 58(3)(a)).

4. a proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument 
appointing the proxy (“proxy instrument”) (section 58(3)(b)).

5. a copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company, or to any other person acting on behalf of the Company, before the proxy exercises 
any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders’ meeting (section 58(3)(c)) and in terms of the memorandum of incorporation (“mOi”) of the Company 
at least 48 hours before the meeting commences.

6. irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy: 

 6.1 the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any 
rights as a shareholder (section 58(4)(a)).

 6.2 the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment states otherwise (section 58(4)(b)); and

 6.3 if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a later, inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the Company (section 58(4)( c )).

7. the revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as 
of the later of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which the revocation instrument was delivered as contemplated in 
paragraph 6.3 above (section 58(5)). 

8. if the proxy instrument has been delivered to a Company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice required by the Companies act or 
the Company’s mOi to be delivered by the Company to the shareholders must be delivered by the Company to the shareholders (section 58(6)(a)), or 
the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has directed the Company to do so in writing and paid any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing 
so (section 58(6)(b)). 

9. a proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain form exercising, any voting right of the shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the mOi or 
proxy instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)). 

10. if a Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies a form of proxy 
instrument:  

 10.1 the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to notice of the meeting at which the proxy is intended to be exercised (section 58(8)
(a)). 

 10.2 the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the Company must: 

  10.2.1 bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established in section 58 of the Companies act (section 58(8)(b)(i));

  10.2.2 contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name(s) of any person(s) named in it, to enable a shareholder to write the 
name, and if desired, an alternative name of a proxy chosen by the shareholder (section 58(8)(b)(ii)); and

  10.2.3 provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution(s), 
to be put at the meeting,  or is to obtain from voting (section 58(8)(b)(iii));

 10.3 the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made irrevocable (section 58(8)( c )); and 

 10.4 the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting at which it was intended to be used, subject to paragraph 7 above 
(section 58(8)(d)).

Form of proxy (continued)
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